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The Argus group 

Building on decades of experience and a strong capital base, Argus provides a broad 

range of insurance, retirement and financial services to meet the needs of both 

businesses and individuals.

our Vision 

Our vision is to be the customer’s first choice for insurance, retirement and financial 

services. We are committed to providing our customers with financial security 

and peace of mind through innovative solutions, which provide excellent value.

our Mission

We will achieve our vision by: 

• Focusing first on the needs of the market segments we choose to serve

• Building upon the strength of the Argus name

• Introducing innovative products and enhancements

• Continuing to focus on direct distribution as our primary channel, while 

 developing alternative channels such as intermediaries, strategic partnerships 

 and technology

• Recruiting and retaining the very best people

• Developing knowledgeable people who provide fast, friendly and convenient 

 service to our customers

• Developing our ability to perform as one cross-functional team

• Exploring opportunities to exploit our leading financial performance and 

 capital position
   

In addition, Argus will look for growth opportunities by expanding into related 

business products and services.

our philosophy And VAlues 

As we interact with our colleagues and meet our responsibilities to our 

customers, shareholders and the community, we welcome the challenge inherent 

in change, while adhering to values that remain constant.  

• We do not compromise on individual or corporate honesty or integrity

• We respect every person as an individual

• We actively promote competence and professionalism within our organisation

• We achieve higher levels of performance through teamwork

• We recognise that fairness is critical in reaching decisions

• We promote and acclaim creativity as we strive to achieve our goals
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ARGuS GRoup 
HoldinGS liMited
group Holding Company 

ARGuS inSuRAnCe 
CoMpAnY liMited
Fire and Windstorm 
(Home and Commercial property), 
Contractors’ All risks, 
liability, marine, motor, 
employer’s indemnity 
(Workers’ Compensation)     

CentuRion inSuRAnCe 
SeRViCeS liMited
insurance Agent and licenced Broker

ARGuS inSuRAnCe 
CoMpAnY (euRope) 
liMited, Gibraltar

Home and Commercial property, 
Contractors’ All risks, liability, 
marine and motor 

WeStMed inSuRAnCe 
SeRViCeS liMited, Gibraltar

insurance Agent and licenced Broker

BeRMudA liFe inSuRAnCe 
CoMpAnY liMited
pensions, group life and long-term 
disability insurance, 
individual life and Annuities,
group and individual Health insurance
including: major medical, dental and 
Vision Care 

ARGuS inteRnAtionAl 
liFe BeRMudA liMited
individual life and Annuities  

ARGuS inteRnAtionAl 
liFe inSuRAnCe liMited
individual life and Annuities 
(74% Interest) 

BeRMudA liFe 
WoRldWide liMited
individual life and Annuities  

AFl inVeStMentS liMited
investment management services 
(60% Interest) 

ARGuS inVeStMent 
noMineeS liMited
nominee Company 
(60% Interest) 

ARGuS inteRnAtionAl 
MAnAGeMent liMited
Company management  

Argus Group Holdings Limited is a 

public company, its shares trading 

on the Bermuda Stock Exchange. 

At March 31, 2013 it had 1,264 

shareholders; 88 percent of whom 

were Bermudian, holding 85 percent 

of the issued shares.

The Argus group

ARGuS MAnAGeMent 
SeRViCeS liMited
Financial and general management 
services   

dAtA CoMMuniCAtionS 
liMited
information systems  

St. MARtin’S ReinSuRAnCe 
CoMpAnY, ltd.
Financial reinsurance 
(in run-off)  

tRott pRopeRtY liMited
property Holding Company  

ARGuS pRopeRtY 
(GiBRAltAR) liMited
property Holding Company 

FoGG inSuRAnCe 
AGenCieS liMited, Malta 

insurance Agent 
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 2013  2012  2011  2010  2009  

FoR tHe YeAR (In $ thousands) 

total revenue  171,9 1 1  154,787  138,188  131,679  32,146

earnings/(loss) for the year  12,576  1,696  (6,092)  (18,435)  (115,701)

Cash dividends  -  -  8,414  12, 187  13,429

At YeAR end (In $ thousands) 

total general Fund Assets  432,479  386,423  533,459  533,887  528,996

shareholders’ equity 95,479  83,794  82,406  96,415  1 1 4,837

FinAnCiAl RAtioS

earnings/(loss) per share – fully diluted  $0.60  $0.08  $(0.29)  $(0.88)  ($5.53)

return on average shareholders’ equity 14.03% 2.04% (6.81%) (17.45%) (61.62%)

SHAReHoldeR dAtA

shares in issue  21,51 1, 163  21,511, 163  21,511, 1 63  21,511, 163  21,485,744

Book value per share  $4.44  $3.90  $3.83  $4.48  $5.34

nuMBeR oF eMploYeeS  202  201  199  171  176  

   

Financial and shareholder data 

five yeAr suMMAry
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going for gold and Meeting the Challenge
 

 

2013 has been a memorable and successful year for Argus in numerous ways – empowering and building                       

relationships with the people who work here, supporting the community through financial means and volun-

teer hours and reporting excellent year-end financial results. We have highlighted some of those moments and                                        

attributes in this Annual report by using snapshots taken of Argus employees, their relatives and friends as                    

they captured the spirit of going for gold and Meeting the Challenge by participating in the 2012 Corporate 

games and achieving the investors in people gold Award accreditation. 

Investors in People are a 

National Quality Standard 

that defines good practice for 

improving an organisation’s 

performance through its people. 

It is the only internationally 

recognised standard that uses 

a ‘people-oriented’ approach 

to business improvement. 

Argus achieved the 

regular Investors in People 

Accreditation in 2000, since 

which and especially over 

the past five years, Argus 

has increased its focus and 

investment in the development 

of its team. The Argus Group, 

now as a Gold Accredited 

organisation, sits within the top 

one percent of organisations 

recognised by Investors in 

People having successfully met 

184 evidence points out of a 

possible 192, which is the 

highest score their assigned 

Assessor has ever awarded any 

organisation. In addition, Argus 

has been selected by Investors 

in People as a global case study 

for managing change through 

effective development and 

management of their people for 

inclusion on the international 

Investors in People website.

leFt to rigHt: Alison hill, The hon. patricia gordon-pamplin, Wanda richardson and Kerry Judd.
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     tHe YeAR in ReVieW

the Argus group reports net earnings of $12.6 million for the year ended march 31, 2013, com-

pared to $1.7 million in the prior year. 

Continued strong performance from our core business operations has produced results in 

line with overall business targets and, after four challenging years, the group has achieved 

improved, positive results. earnings from operations have once again been generated through 

achieving very high client retention levels while managing operating expenses and exceeding 

profit targets across most business lines.

these positive earnings represent a year of continued recovery for the Argus group and 

were achieved against a backdrop of challenging economic times both 

locally and globally. your Board and management remain confident that 

the group has now placed the vast majority of its legacy issues firmly 

in the past and look forward to a return to more ‘normal’ times. this 

confidence stems from the continued strong performance of the core 

business operations, strong cash flows and the benefits arising from 

our sustained efforts over several years to optimise the Balance sheet 

and capital structure in a considered and orderly fashion. the Balance 

sheet now faces substantially less exposure to risks arising from non-

core investments and will enable the group to build on its history of 

over 60 years of service to Bermuda. 

in addition, the group has made progress with its strategic goal of 

focusing on markets where Argus can grow and earn higher returns 

within acceptable risk tolerances. Accordingly, we remain confident 

that the Argus group is well positioned for the future. 

shareholders’ equity now stands at $95.5 million, substantially in excess of the statutory capital 

required to conduct the group’s various insurance and investment related businesses. the result 

for the year represents a return on average shareholders’ equity of 14.03 percent compared to 

2.04 percent for the previous year. this will naturally lead shareholders to enquire when a divi-

dend will be resumed. your Board, having considered the declaration of a dividend each quarter 

since its temporary suspension in July 2011, believes that now is the appropriate time.

Accordingly, the Board has declared a dividend of six cents per share payable on september 

9, 2013, for shareholders of record on July 15, 2013. this represents an interim dividend based 

upon the audited financial results of the group for the fiscal year ended march 31, 2013. 

in the future, the Board anticipates that dividends will be considered on a semi-annual basis to 

coincide with the six-monthly financial reporting cycles. in normal circumstances, it is intended 

that this will consist of an interim and final dividend for each fiscal year, or part thereof, under 

review and be based upon the results as declared for the prior financial year. 

With effect from march 31, 2013, somers isles insurance Company limited (siiC) and Bermuda 

life insurance Company limited (BliC) amalgamated into a single entity named Bermuda life 

reporT To shAreholDers

Argus won the

Corporate Games 

‘Sport for Life’ 

Grand Award, 

which recognises 

commitment to 

company spirit, 

employee fitness 

and the value of 

participation –

a reflection 

of Argus’ 

dedication to 

leadership,

commitment 

to the company 

and excellence 

in team building. 
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We RelY 
on eACH 
otHeR

We RelY 
on eACH 
otHeR

going for gold and Meeting the Challenge
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insurance Company limited (Bermuda life) operating under BliC’s Class d long term licence. 

siiC and BliC have respectively become the Argus Health and Argus pension divisions of 

Bermuda life. operationally, there are no material changes and it is expected that significant 

efficiencies will be gained. legally, any and all of siiC or BliC’s existing contracts, policies and 

liabilities continue as the contracts, policies and liabilities of Bermuda life without need for 

amendment, notice or change. 

recently, the rating agency A.m. Best recognised the group’s progress by revising the outlook 

from negative to stable and affirmed the financial strength ratings for the Company and its two 

main operating subsidiaries in Bermuda – Argus insurance Company limited and Bermuda life 

insurance Company limited. the stable outlook reflects the group’s return to profitability, the 

strengthening of its capital and improvement of its asset quality. 

FinAnCiAl ReSultS

net earnings for the year attributable to shareholders 

of the Company for the year ended march 31, 2013, were 

$12.6 million compared to earnings of $1.7 million for the 

previous year. the earnings per share were $0.60 com-

pared to $0.08 last year.

As at march 31, 2013, total Assets including segregated 

Fund Assets stood at $1.9 billion and shareholders’ 

equity increased to $95.5 million from $83.8 million 

one year ago.

net premiums written decreased by $2.8 million, or 

two percent, reflecting the recessionary environment 

as many clients have sought ways in which to contain 

costs by reducing headcount and revising employee                      

benefits wherever available.   

net Benefits and Claims decreased by one percent as 

the trend of increasing healthcare costs was offset by 

lower than expected claims experienced primarily in 

the area of overseas healthcare.

investment income and share of earnings/(loss) 

of associates have improved to provide a positive 

result of $16.5 million, an increase of $18.6 mil-

lion over the prior year. our equity portfolio has 

contributed $5.8 million through net unrealised 

gains and dividend income whilst our bond 

portfolio has contributed $12 million primarily 

through interest income and net realised gains during the year. the 

prolonged economic recession continues to impact the local real estate market which 

resulted in the requirement to record an impairment of $2.8 million on our mortgage portfolio.    

Argus has worked 

hard to achieve 

a close family 

environment, with 

a strong culture 

of teamwork, 

mutual support, 

engagement and 

empowerment.
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We ARe 
poiSed to 
WitHStAnd 
CHAllenGeS

We ARe 
poiSed to 
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CHAllenGeS

going for gold and Meeting the Challenge
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Commissions, management fees and other are in line with the prior year with a modest increase 

of one percent. 

operating expenses have increased by 12.8 percent 

over the prior year due to the group’s commitment to 

enhance the information systems infrastructure and the 

strengthening of the management team. Additionally, 

allowances have been included for the uncollectability 

of certain receivables across the group.

Amortisation, depreciation and impairment has 

increased due to the acceleration of the deprecia-

tion charge on certain computer systems that are 

scheduled to be decommissioned next year and a 

reduction in intangible Assets of $158,000 as a 

portion became impaired.  

interest on loan has decreased in the year as the  

loan taken out to fund the construction of 14 

Wesley street was repaid. this eliminates all debt 

from the group’s Balance sheet.

pRopeRtY And CASuAltY, BeRMudA

this division continues to operate successfully within 

its planned parameters despite continued and overtly 

aggressive competition in the marketplace. in the                               

current economic environment, this is a testament to 

our commitment to superior, proactive customer service 

combined with disciplined underwriting. once again, this 

has resulted in high levels of client retention which has 

produced a solid underwriting result for the year.

the fire portfolio, which protects our insureds from 

fire and windstorm, among other perils, continues to 

perform satisfactorily due to several factors. these 

include a catastrophe-free year, for which we are 

thankful, combined with cost containment measures 

arising from increased streamlining of processes  and 

further efficiencies delivered by our new underwrit-

ing administration platform.

last year we successfully launched Home Essentials, a 

product designed to reduce premiums for Bermuda’s 

senior population. Based on customer feedback, we 

have reduced the qualifying age to 60. this opens 

the product up for a wider segment of our community.  

Training and 

development is 

aimed at achieving 

organisational 

goals and vision. 

Argus has made 

long-standing 

efforts in develop-

ing its team and 

thereby strengthen-

ing the overall 

organisation.
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pRopeRtY And CASuAltY, euRope

this division operates in gibraltar and malta. it has been a challenging 

year in both jurisdictions for a variety of reasons. Aggressive competition 

coupled with a downturn in economic activity and contraction in spending 

on capital projects has had an adverse effect on premium growth. As a 

consequence, management has been focusing on the retention of renew-

als and reinforcing existing client relationships to protect our account. 

Following an external review of the claims reserving processes and 

enhancement of the independent actuarial review process for europe, 

the resultant strengthening of loss reserves across all lines of busi-

ness in both european territories, but primarily the motor book in 

malta, has contributed to an overall loss for european operations 

for the year.  

management has taken action to re-engineer the malta motor port-

folio through withdrawal from loss-making sectors, significant rate 

increases where appropriate and renewed focus on building a more 

balanced book of business in malta. 

Full implementation of the new underwriting administration platform 

is now close to completion in gibraltar. preparations are underway to 

introduce this platform into malta during the current fiscal year.

GRoup inSuRAnCe

the group insurance division, comprised of group health, life, long-term 

disability, short-term disability and workers’ compensation in Bermuda, 

has performed well this year in spite of challenging economic conditions. 

Although retention levels remained high for group insurance business, the 

average insured headcount over the year has decreased, indicating that 

the total numbers of employees insured within groups continues to fall as 

employers reduce staff in the face of a weak economy. 

A key area of concern within the community continues to be the rising 

cost of healthcare. For many years management has recognised that 

escalating healthcare costs are unsustainable. government recently 

announced an increase of 20 percent to the legislated premium 

(including the standard Hospital Benefit; the minimum level of 

health insurance in Bermuda, and the mutual reinsurance Fund 

which health insurers collect on behalf of government). this represents 

over 40 percent of claims’ costs. the legislated increase, combined with the continued rise 

in medical cost inflation has put real pressure on the 2013-2014 annual health renewal pricing. 

Argus has strived to minimise the impact of these increases to our health insureds. in addition, 

we continue to work closely with the Bermuda Hospitals Board, the ministry of Health and the 

Bermuda Health Council to address the current challenges of an aging population, increasing 

healthcare utilisation and rising medical inflation.
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unfortunately, health claims cost per capita has increased this year, particularly for services 

covered by the standard Hospital Benefit. the main driver of these local claims costs contin-

ues to be an increased utilisation of services at the local hospitals. our focus continues to be 

on developing programmes aimed at reducing the cost of healthcare and delivering excellent 

service to our customers. in this vein, we are proud to have sponsored teleNurse, a free medi-

cal advice line which aims to address the rising cost of healthcare by preventing unnecessary 

visits to the doctor’s office or emergency room. We are pleased with the continued successful 

partnerships with our overseas facilities, resulting in better than expected claims costs for 

overseas treatment.

Argus Health maintains that a crucial way to control rising healthcare costs is to reduce                                 

utilisation of services by living healthy lifestyles. our wellness programmes strive to promote 

prevention and early detection and we are proud of our partnership with those agencies pro-

moting prevention and wellness in our community. We continue to focus on wellness initiatives 

and promoting healthy lifestyles.  

penSionS

We are pleased that pension assets under management have continued to increase and the  

client base has remained stable over the year. 

during the year, Argus pensions announced an expansion of the investment options available 

under its plans to include a range of traditionally managed Funds. Argus now offers the broad-

est range of investment options available locally. in addition to the comprehensive selection 

of actively managed Argus select Funds, plan members also have the choice of a guaranteed 

account or a self-directed option which is appropriate for sophisticated investors. there is also 

a 401k plan for u.s. tax payers who are not subject to the requirements of local legislation. the 

division also expanded its comprehensive online services to allow members to initiate invest-

ment election changes online.

We are pleased that only a relatively small number of employers and 

employees have found it necessary to temporarily suspend their pen-

sion contributions, as allowed under the national pension scheme 

(occupational pensions) temporary Amendment Act 2012, as we are 

very aware of the long-term impact that any such suspension will 

have on lifetime pensions. 

inteRnAtionAl liFe

the international life division had an excellent financial year, add-

ing over $120 million of new premium. global investment markets 

continued to prosper, resulting in a significant increase in our 

policy assets under management, which in turn led to increased 

fee income on existing business.  

our pipeline of new enquiries has gained further momentum, 

with a number of significant new cases expected to come to fruition in the near 

future. management continues to explore new markets with our enhanced product range and 

are confident of increasing our contribution to the group’s net earnings in the years to come.
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AFl inVeStMentS (AFl)

even though Bermuda is facing unprecedented financial challenges, 

AFl has not only maintained, but actually grown its client base over 

the year. our personalised approach and focus on financial well-

ness has enabled AFl to help clients restructure their portfolios to 

adapt to changing situations. this flexibility and personal focus on 

each individual client is a key driver to our retention and growth.

SAleS And MARketinG 

the main focus in our Bermuda and europe operations                            

continues to be the retention of existing clients. despite expe-

riencing the most competitive and challenging business condi-

tions, we are very proud that well over 90 percent of our clients 

have remained loyal to Argus. Building long-term value-added 

relationships and working with our clients to understand the 

challenges they face enables us to find best value solutions 

and remains a strategic imperative. the group’s growth strategy of diversifying the product 

offering, cross-selling and maintaining underwriting integrity is reaping rewards as we continue 

to see an increase in the profitability from new business activity. sales have been particularly 

impressive in our Health, personal lines (both europe and Bermuda) and international divisions 

throughout the year under review. the teams have also built a very healthy pipeline to support 

the generation of future sales. 

inFoRMAtion teCHnoloGY (it)

As part of its it focus, the group has created a comprehensive client relationship management 

system that allows us to work with our customers in an integrated manner, so that we have a 

cohesive view of the needs and performance of both our large and small customers. it has also 

replaced the core Argus group website technology, which is now scalable across the group.   

Following last year’s strategic review, the group has begun a significant commitment to tech-

nology in order to position the group for the future. A major part of this investment is the 

phased replacement of the group insurance systems, which will occur over the next eighteen 

months. this will take advantage of the new software architecture implemented during 2013, 

and enable substantially increased functionality and scalability.

RiSk And CoMpliAnCe GoVeRnAnCe

the types of material risk to which the group is exposed have not changed significantly over                   

the year and are more fully described in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements. the 

group’s risk management framework and its oversight have significantly matured. the major 

components of the framework included the design and implementation of our risk appetite 

policy, the process of continuous internal auditing and a system to record, analyse and report 

on operational risk events and customer feedback.

Argus has long 

been a company 

that places a priority 

on our people and, 

as a result, our 

employees were 

found to have a 

genuine commitment 

to the delivery of 

service excellence 

and our customer-

centric approach 

which has been 

demonstrated 

in the most recent 

financial results.
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going for gold and Meeting the Challenge
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HuMAn ReSouRCeS (HR)

in november 2012, mr. peter dunkerley was appointed 

to the new position of executive Vice president Finance 

& treasury responsible for leading and developing the 

overall implementation of the group’s new management 

accounting framework. in this new role, mr. dunkerley 

will work closely with the Chief Financial officer and the 

finance team to enable Argus to enhance all aspects of 

financial reporting and administration. 

in europe, this year’s focus was on continued execu-

tion of the europe Hr integration plan by standardising 

and aligning Hr policies and practices between cor-

porate and overseas offices. the investment in staff 

training continues apace. For example, over 80 percent of the staff in malta are studying for 

professional qualifications, with a 90 percent success rate to date.                         

in march 2013, the Argus group in Bermuda successfully achieved investors in people gold level 

Accreditation for its ongoing investment in the development of its people and overall company 

performance. 

A number of initiatives were undertaken to further foster the group’s client-focused culture. 

these include a revised annual business planning process to encourage a client-centric view 

across the organisation, facilitate better collaboration amongst departments and enhance 

cross-functional execution of group-wide priorities. in addition, we continued with the employee 

engagement strategy which involved staff in cross-functional initiatives including business 

process improvement teams, product knowledge workshops and people management forums.

the third annual PassionWorks! employee engagement survey highlighted that management 

and staff remain highly committed and passionate about working at Argus. this year’s results 

evidenced positive trending in all areas as employees felt more supported by their environ-

ment. Compared to the PassionWorks! global database of 100 companies (5,000 employees), 

the Argus group has received the highest corporate average score on key drivers of employee 

motivation and commitment. As a result, Argus has been asked to participate as a global best 

practice case study in supporting employee engagement.

CoMMunitY

At Argus we focus on community education, promotion of health and positive lifestyles with 

a very deep reach into the broad community. the Argus group takes its responsibility to sup-

port the community very seriously, particularly during periods of social and economic turmoil. 

the group actively supports organisations and community events for the benefit of all in 

Bermuda. our corporate giving programme continues to focus on the theme of prevention as 

Argus is in the business of helping our clients prevent financial and physical misfortune. Argus 

has supported a selection of charities that are making a positive difference in the community 

and in the lives of young people in particular. the charity partnerships in the year were: the 

Adult education school, Bermuda Cancer & Health Centre, the Family Centre, sCArs (saving 

Argus has a very 

clear purpose and 

vision with a strong 

ethos of social 

responsibility, 

supported by group 

and individual 

business plans. 

everyone knows 

where they fit and 

how their role is 

helping Argus to 

achieve its vision.
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Children and revealing secrets), youthnet, the Bermuda diabetes Association and the Bermuda 

Zoological society.

in addition, we supported a number of community events that are in line with our wellness                             

philosophy, including the very popular Bermuda national trust palm sunday Walk and the 

Argus Walks the Walk with the Centre on philanthropy Charity 5k Walk, where over $30,000 

was raised for 118 charities. the group also sponsored the Jump 2b Fit programme organised 

by the Bermuda Heart Foundation where emphasis is placed on improving the level of fitness 

of children in our schools.  

Argus employees, family members and friends participated in the Bermuda Corporate games 

held in october 2012. We had 90 participants competing in ten sports during this four-day 

multi-sports festival. this festival has been staged in various countries over the past 25 years 

and was the largest community-driven event to come to Bermuda. We were pleased to have 

been awarded the sport For life grand Award which recognises commitment to company spirit, 

employee fitness and the value of participation. 

We were delighted to be the recipient of the Bermuda insurance institute’s inaugural Corporate 

social responsibility Award. 

FoRWARd lookinG StAteMentS

this and certain other statements in this report may be deemed to include ‘forward looking 

statements’ and are based upon management’s current expectations and are subject to uncer-

tainty and changes in circumstances. Actual results may differ materially from those included 

in these statements for a variety of reasons including worldwide economic conditions, success 

in business retention and other factors.

neW diReCtoR 

in January 2013, mr. paul Wollmann was appointed to the Board to fill a casual vacancy.                               

mr. Wollmann holds an mBA from the school of risk management, insurance and Actuarial science, 

st. John’s university, new york. He has extensive reinsurance and capital markets knowledge and 

has direct work experience with the most senior levels of large financial institutions. in addition to 

his reinsurance background in Bermuda, he has extensive experience in the structured finance area.   

note oF AppReCiAtion

on behalf of the Board and management, we would like to express our appreciation to mr. gerald 

simons who retired from the Board of Argus group Holdings limited during the year under 

review. We thank him for his over 40 years of service in various capacities.

our entire staff is focused on delivering excellent service, value and satisfaction to our custom-

ers and long-term sustainable value to our shareholders, while also fulfilling our commitment 

to the community. We wish to thank our staff for their hard work and dedication and thank our 

shareholders and clients for your continued loyalty and support.

       July 18, 2013

The Bermuda 

insurance institute 

selection committee 

felt that although 

there are larger 

organisations in 

Bermuda with 

well-established 

charitable foundations 

that contribute very 

significant resources 

to community needs, 

what stood out about 

the Argus group 

was how completely 

integrated the 

charitable and 

community mindset 

is throughout the 

entire organisation, 

and how at Argus, 

we focus our efforts 

on a day-to-day basis.

sheila e. nicoll 
CHAirmAn

Alison s. hill 
CHieF exeCutiVe oFFiCer
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going for gold and Meeting the Challenge

MAxiMiSinG 
ouR 
StRenGtHS
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MAnAgeMenT’s responsiBiliTy for The finAnCiAl sTATeMenTs

the accompanying consolidated financial statements and other financial information in this Annual report have been 
prepared by the group’s management, which is responsible for their integrity, consistency, objectivity and reliability. 
to fulfill this responsibility, the group maintains policies, procedures and systems of internal control to ensure that its 
reporting practices and accounting and administrative procedures are appropriate to provide a high degree of assur-
ance that relevant and reliable financial information is produced and assets are safeguarded. these controls include 
the careful selection and training of employees, the establishment of well-defined areas of responsibility and account-
ability for performance, and the communication of policies and a code of conduct throughout the group. in addition, the 
group maintains an internal Audit department that conducts periodic audits of all aspects of the group’s operations. 
the internal Audit department has full access to the Audit Committee.

these consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with international Financial reporting 
standards and, where appropriate, reflect estimates based on management’s judgment. the financial information 
presented throughout this Annual report is generally consistent with the information contained in the accompanying 

consolidated financial statements.

kpmg Audit limited, the independent chartered accountants appointed by the shareholders, have examined the con-

solidated financial statements set out on pages 20 through 75 in accordance with international standards on Auditing 

to enable them to express to the shareholders their opinion on the consolidated financial statements. their report is 

shown opposite.

the consolidated financial statements have been further reviewed and approved by the Board of directors acting 

through the Audit Committee, which is comprised of directors who are not officers or employees of the group. the 

Audit Committee, which meets with the auditors and management to review the activities of each and reports to the 

Board of directors, oversees management’s responsibilities for the financial reporting and internal control systems. the 

auditors have full and direct access to the Audit Committee and meet periodically with the committee, both with and 

without management present, to discuss their audit and related findings.

these consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of directors on July 18, 2013.    

July 18, 2013 

David W. pugh
CHieF FinAnCiAl oFFiCer

Alison s. hill
CHieF exeCutiVe oFFiCer
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inDepenDenT AuDiTors’ reporT

Chartered Accountants

Hamilton, Bermuda

July 18, 2013

To The shAreholDers of Argus group holDings liMiTeD AnD suBsiDiAries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Argus group Holdings limited (the “group”), 
which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at march 31, 2013, and the consolidated statements of operations, com-
prehensive income / (loss), changes in equity and cash flows for the year ended march 31, 2013, and notes, comprising a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

MAnAgeMenT’s responsiBiliTy for The finAnCiAl sTATeMenTs

management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in ac-
cordance with international Financial reporting standards, and for such internal control as management determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

AuDiTors’ responsiBiliTy

our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 

our audit in accordance with international standards on Auditing. those standards require that we comply with ethical 

requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 

statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements. the procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 

misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. in making those risk assessments, 

we consider internal control relevant to the group’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial state-

ments in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of express-

ing an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 

of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 

the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

opinion

in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 

position of Argus group Holdings limited as at march 31, 2013, and its consolidated financial performance and its con-

solidated cash flows for the year ended march 31, 2013 in accordance with international Financial reporting standards.
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    MArCh 31  mArCH 31
(In $ thousands) Note 2013    2012 

ASSetS
Cash and short-term investments   30,326   46, 127
interest and dividends receivable   2,706   404
investments  3 250,518   185,068
insurance balances receivable   5 18,469    22, 164
reinsurers’ share of:   
 Claims provisions   11 14,001   1 1 ,573
 unearned premiums   11 10,202   10,860
other assets  7 7,982   7,083
deferred policy acquisition costs  8 2,182   2,295
investment in associates  4 11,918   11,404
investment properties   6 6,936   7,010
property and equipment   9 71,719   75,648
intangible assets  10 5,520   6,787

ToTAl generAl funD AsseTs    432,479    386,423
ToTAl segregATeD funD AsseTs   26 1,476,685    1,334,693

ToTAl AsseTs    1,909,164    1,72 1 , 1 1 6

liABilitieS
insurance contract liabilities 11 198,144    190,932
insurance balances payable 15 10,772    12,75 1
payable for investments purchased  21,530   -
investment contract liabilities 12 83,932    69,764
tax payable  61    188
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities    16,580  14,730
loan payable  16 -   7,843
post-employment benefit liability 14 4,524   4,078

ToTAl generAl funD liABiliTies    335,543    300,286
ToTAl segregATeD funD liABiliTies   26 1,476,685    1,334,693

ToTAl liABiliTies  1,812,228    1,634,979

equitY
Attributable to shareholders of the Company     
 share capital  16,742    16,433
 Contributed surplus  52,615    52,737
 retained earnings  28,085    15,9 1 3
 Accumulated other comprehensive loss    (1,963)    (1,289)

ToTAl equiTy ATTriBuTABle To shAreholDers of The CoMpAny   95,479    83,794

Attributable to non-controlling interests    1,457    2,343

ToTAl equiTy   96,936    86, 1 37

ToTAl equiTy AnD liABiliTies  1,909,164     1,721 , 1 1 6

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.  

ConsoliDATeD BAlAnCe sheeT
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ConsoliDATeD sTATeMenT of operATions 

For the years ended March 31 (In $ thousands, except per share data) Note 2013    2012 

     

 

ReVenue
gross premiums written  162,852   167,985
reinsurance ceded    (40, 179)  (42,507)

net premiums written    122,673     125,478
net change in unearned premiums 18 1,210  274

net premiums earned       123,883    125,752
investment income 3.5 15,799   10,089
share of earnings/(loss) of associates 4 714   (12, 197)
Commissions, management fees and other 21 31,515  31 , 143

    171 ,9 1 1   154,787

expenSeS
policy benefits  13,196  15,927
Claims and adjustment expenses      87,184     9 1,077
reinsurance recoveries     19 (5,890)     (1 1, 126)
gross change in contract liabilities     20 11,055     6,30 1
Change in reinsurers’ share of claims provisions     20 (2,595)     2, 180

neT BenefiTs AnD ClAiMs  102,950   104,359
Commission expenses     5,015   3,48 1
operating expenses   22 43,992   39,007
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment 9 ; 10 6,827   5,350
interest on loan 16 193  528

    158,977   152,725

eArnings Before inCoMe TAxes     12,934   2,062
income taxes 25 8  1 1 2

neT eArnings for The yeAr  12,926   1,950

Attributable to:          
 shareholders of the Company    12,576   1,696
 non-controlling interests    350   254

    12,926 1,950

earnings per share: 17 
 basic    0.60 0.08
 fully diluted    0.60 0.08

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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For the years ended March 31 (In $ thousands)  2013    2012

net eARninGS FoR tHe YeAR     12,926   1,950

oTher CoMprehensive loss
Change in unrealised losses on available for sale investments 
 unrealised gains/(losses) arising during the year  24  (35)
share of other comprehensive income of associates
 reclassification of realised gains to net earnings  -   (305)
Change in unrealised losses on translating financial statements of 
 foreign operations    (698) (83)

oTher CoMprehensive loss for The yeAr    (674)     (423)

CoMprehensive inCoMe for The yeAr    12,252     1,527

oTher CoMprehensive loss ATTriBuTABle To:       
 shareholders of the Company   (674)   (423)
 non-controlling interests    -   -

        (674)     (423)

CoMprehensive inCoMe ATTriBuTABle To:       
 shareholders of the Company   11,902   1, 273
 non-controlling interests    350   254

        12,252     1,527

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

ConsoliDATeD sTATeMenT of CoMprehensive inCoMe/(loss) 
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For the years ended March 31 (In $ thousands) Note 2013    2012 

  

SHARe CApitAl
Authorised:    

25,000,000 common shares of $1.00 each (2012 – 25,000,000)   25,000   25,000

issued and fully paid, beginning of year 21,511,163 shares 
 (2012 – 21,511,163 shares)  21,5 1 1   2 1,5 1 1
deduct: shares held in treasury, at cost 510,041 shares  
 (2012 – 478,223 shares)  (4,769)   (5,078)

ToTAl, neT of shAres helD in TreAsury, enD of yeAr    16,742     16,433

ContRiButed SuRpluS         
Balance, beginning of year       52,737    52,629
stock-based compensation expense   23 44    108
treasury shares granted to employees  (166) -

BAlAnCe, enD of yeAr  52,615  52,737

RetAined eARninGS 
Balance, beginning of year  15,913 14,2 1 7
net earnings for the year   12,576  1,696
loss on treasury shares granted to employees  (404) -

BAlAnCe, enD of yeAr  28,085 15,913

ACCuMulAted otHeR CoMpReHenSiVe loSS 
Balance, beginning of year    (1,289)   (866)  
Change in unrealised gains/(losses) on available-for-sale investments    24   (35)
share of other comprehensive income of associates   -   (305)
Change in unrealised losses on translating financial statements 
 of foreign operations  (698) (83)

BAlAnCe, enD of yeAr 28 (1,963) (1,289)

ToTAl equiTy ATTriBuTABle To shAreholDers of The CoMpAny  95,479 83,794

AttRiButABle to non-ContRollinG inteReStS
 Balance, beginning of year    2,343  2,089
 net earnings for the year    350  254
 distributions to non-controlling interests   (1,236)  -

BAlAnCe, enD of yeAr    1,457    2,343

ToTAl equiTy    96,936    86, 137

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

ConsoliDATeD sTATeMenT of ChAnges in equiTy
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For the years ended March 31 (In $ thousands)  2013    2012

opeRAtinG ACtiVitieS
earnings before income taxes  12,934   2,062
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash basis (Footnote (i) below)    (8,565)   9,4 1 1
Change in operating balances (Footnote (ii) below)    23,843   14,772
interest income received    4,297   7,016
dividend income received    1,477   1,655
income tax paid    (130)   (172)

CAsh generATeD froM operATing ACTiviTies    33,856   34,744

inVeStinG ACtiVitieS
purchase of investments    (756,789)   (1,76 1,683)
sale and maturity of investments    718,808  1,895,862 
transfer of investments to segregated funds  -  (136,889)
purchase of property and equipment  (1,739) (3,254)
purchase of intangible assets    (66)   (251)

CAsh useD in invesTing ACTiviTies    (39,786)   (6,215)

FinAnCinG ACtiVitieS
dividends paid to shareholders   -  (2, 103)
dividends paid to non-controlling interests  (1,236)  -
Acquisition of shares held in treasury  (26 1)  7
repayment of loan    (7,843)  (6,000)
interest paid on loan   (1 93)  (528)

CAsh useD in finAnCing ACTiviTies    (9,533)   (8,624)

effeCT of foreign exChAnge rATe ChAnges on CAsh 
AnD shorT-TerM invesTMenTs  (338) (23)

neT ChAnge in CAsh AnD shorT-TerM invesTMenTs    (15,80 1)  19,882
CAsh AnD shorT-TerM invesTMenTs, beginning of year  46, 127   26,245

CAsh AnD shorT-TerM invesTMenTs, end of year     30,326 46, 1 27

Footnotes
(i) interest income    (9,724) (10,685)
 dividend income   (1,702) (1,624)
 investment income related to the deposit administration pension plans  830 4,084
 investment income related to segregated funds with guaranteed return  2,51 7 -
 net realised gains/(losses) on sale of investments   (4,086) 1, 1 66
 Amortisation of net premium of bonds   1, 160  1, 1 4 1
 Change in fair value of investments  (6,549) (3,557)
 net impairment losses  2,6 15 7 1 1
 share of loss/(earnings) of associates  (714) 12, 1 97
 Change in fair value of investment property  24 (8)
 depreciation of property and equipment  5,638 4,359
 Amortisation of intangible assets  1,03 1  99 1 
 impairment of intangibles  158 -
 interest on loan  193  528
 expense on vesting of stock-based compensation  44  108

     (8,565) 9,4 1 1

(ii) insurance balances receivable   3,5 12   (3,805) 
 reinsurers’ share of:   
    Claims provisions   (2,595) 2, 1 79
    unearned premiums  524 (404)
 other assets   (573)  (693)
 deferred policy acquisition costs   1 2  (165)
 insurance contract liabilities    8,346 6,426
 insurance balances payable   (1,879) (1,858)
 investment contract liabilities    14, 168 14,594
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  1,882 (1,955)
 post-employment benefit liability  446 453

     23,843 14,772

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

ConsoliDATeD sTATeMenT of CAsh floWs 
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noTes To The ConsoliDATeD finAnCiAl sTATeMenTs
March 31, 2013                                                      

(In $ thousands except for per share amounts and where otherwise stated) 

 1 opeRAtionS

  Argus group Holdings limited (the Company) was incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability on may 26, 2005, 
as a holding company and has its registered office at the Argus Building, 14 Wesley street, Hamilton Hm 11 , Bermuda. 
the Company and its subsidiaries (the group) operates predominantly in Bermuda, gibraltar and malta underwrit-
ing life, health, property and casualty insurance. the group also provides investment, savings and retirement prod-
ucts, and offers a range of administrative services including company management and accounting services.  

 during the reporting period, the Company’s subsidiaries were as follows:  
 AFl investments limited Bermuda life insurance Company limited
 Argus insurance Company limited   Bermuda life Worldwide limited 
 Argus insurance Company (europe) limited, Gibraltar Centurion insurance services limited
 Argus international life Bermuda limited data Communications limited
 Argus international life insurance limited Fogg insurance Agencies limited, Malta
 Argus international management limited somers isles insurance Company limited  

 Argus investment nominees limited st. martin’s reinsurance Company, ltd.
 Argus management services limited trott property limited
 Argus property (gibraltar) limited Westmed insurance services limited, Gibraltar

 on march 31, 2012, Argus property limited amalgamated with Bermuda life insurance Company limited.

 on march 31, 2013, somers isles insurance Company limited amalgamated with Bermuda life insurance   
 Company limited.

 2 SiGniFiCAnt ACCountinG poliCieS

the significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are discussed 
below and are applied consistently.

2.1  StAteMent oF CoMpliAnCe

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with international Financial reporting 
standards (iFrs) as issued by the international Accounting standards Board (iAsB) and in accordance with the pro-
visions of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, as amended.  

2.2  BASiS oF pReSentAtion  

2.2.1  Basis of measurement

the consolidated financial statements have been compiled on the going concern basis and prepared on the historical 
cost basis except for the following material items on the Consolidated Balance sheet:
• Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVtpl) are measured at fair value;
• Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value;
• derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value;
• investment properties are measured at fair value;
• Certain segregated fund assets and liabilities are measured at fair value; and 
• post-employment benefit liability is measured at the present value of the defined benefit obligation.

the Consolidated Balance sheet is presented in order of decreasing liquidity. 

2.2.2  presentation currency

All amounts, excluding per share data or where otherwise stated, are in thousands of Bermuda dollars, which is the 
group’s presentation currency and which is on par with u.s. dollars. 

2.2.3 use of estimates and judgments

the preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,                            
revenues and expenses. Actual results will differ from those estimates. 
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estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements is included in the following notes:
Note 2.4 – foreign currency translation;
Note 2.9  – insurance contracts and investment contracts;
Note 2.16 and Note 29.1 – leases and operating leases;
Note 4  – investment in associates; and
Note 6  – investment properties.

information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material 
adjustment within the next financial year is included in the following notes:
Note 2.7 – impairment of assets;
Note 3 and Note 12 – investments and investment contract liabilities;
Note 11  – insurance contract liabilities; and
Note 14 – post-employment benefit liability.

2.3   BASiS oF ConSolidAtion

2.3.1  Business combinations

the group uses the acquisition method to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. At the date of acquisition, the 
group recognises the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed as part of the overall business combina-
tion transaction at their fair value. recognition of these items is subject to the definitions of assets and liabilities in  
accordance with the iAsB’s Framework for the preparation and presentation of Financial statements. the group 
may also recognise intangible items not previously recognised by the acquired entity, such as customer lists.

the group elects on a transaction-by-transaction basis whether to measure non-controlling interest at its fair value, 
or at its proportionate share of the recognised amount of the identifiable net assets, at the acquisition date. transac-
tion costs that the group incurs in connection with the business combination are expensed as incurred.

Amalgamation transactions

under a business combination where entities under common control are amalgamated, the carrying values of the 
assets and liabilities of the entities are combined. transactions arising from the amalgamation of the entities under 
common control are eliminated in the group’s consolidated financial statements.

2.3.2  subsidiaries

the group’s consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries 
after all significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. the accounting policies of sub-
sidiaries have been changed where necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the group. 

Control is defined as the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity, so as to obtain benefits 
from its activities. this is assessed from both a legal and economic perspective. entities are fully consolidated from 
the date control is obtained by the Company or one of its subsidiaries. 

losses applicable to the non-controlling interest in a subsidiary are allocated to non-controlling interests even if                     
doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance.

2.3.3  investment in associates 

Associates are those entities in which the group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and  
operational policies. significant influence is normally presumed to exist when the group holds between 20 and 50 
percent of the voting power of another entity. 

investment in associates is initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs. thereafter, these invest-
ments are measured using the equity method. under the equity method, the group records its proportionate share 
of income and loss from such investments on the Consolidated statement of operations and its proportionate share 
of other Comprehensive income on the Consolidated statement of Comprehensive income/(loss). Certain associ-
ates have different accounting policies from the group and, as a result, adjustments have been made to align the 
associate’s accounting policies with the group.

When the group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an investment in associates, the carrying amount of that 
interest is reduced to zero, and the recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the group 
has an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the associate.
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2.4   FoReiGn CuRRenCY tRAnSlAtion

2.4.1  Translation of transactions in foreign currencies

the individual financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries are prepared in the currency in which they 
conduct their ordinary course of business, which is referred to as the functional currency. monetary assets and liabil-
ities denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the Company or its subsidiaries are translated 
into the functional currency using rates of exchange at the balance sheet date. income and expenses are translated 
at rates of exchange in effect on the transaction dates. Foreign exchange gains and losses are reflected in operating 
expenses on the Consolidated statement of operations. 

2.4.2  Translation to the presentation currency

the financial statements of foreign operations are translated from their respective functional currencies to Ber-
muda dollars, the group’s presentation currency. Assets and liabilities are translated at the rates of exchange at the 
balance sheet date, and income and expenses are translated using the average rates of exchange. the accumulated 
gains or losses arising from translation of functional currencies to the presentation currency are included in other 
comprehensive income on the Consolidated statement of Comprehensive income/(loss).

2.5  CASH And SHoRt-teRM inVeStMentS

Cash and short-term investments include cash balances and time deposits with maturities of three months or less at 
the date of purchase. interest on these balances is recorded on the accrual basis and included in investment income. 
the carrying value of Cash and short-term investments approximates their fair value.

2.6  FinAnCiAl inStRuMentS

2.6.1  financial assets

2.6.1 (a) Classification and recognition of financial assets

the group has the following financial assets: (i) financial assets at FVtpl, (ii) held-to-maturity financial assets,  
(iii) loans and receivables and (iv) available-for-sale financial assets. management determines the classification at 
initial recognition.

(i)  fvTpl

 A financial asset is classified at FVtpl if it is classified as held-for-trading or is designated as such upon 
initial recognition. Financial assets are designated at FVtpl if the group manages such investments and 
makes purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value in accordance with the group’s documented 
risk management or investment strategy. 

 Attributable transaction costs upon initial recognition are recognised in investment income on the  
Consolidated statement of operations as incurred. FVtpl financial assets are measured at fair value, and 
changes therein are recognised in investment income on the Consolidated statement of operations. divi-
dends earned on equities are recorded in investment income on the Consolidated statement of operations.

(ii)  held-to-maturity financial assets

 if the group has the positive intent and ability to hold debt securities to maturity, then such financial  
assets are classified as held-to-maturity. Held-to-maturity financial assets are recognised initially at fair value 
plus any directly attributable transaction costs. subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity financial  
assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.  
Amortisation of premiums and accretion of discounts are included in investment income on the Consoli-
dated statement of operations. 

 Any sale or reclassification of a more than insignificant amount of held-to-maturity investments not close 
to their maturity would result in the reclassification of all held-to-maturity investments as available-for-sale, 
and prevent the group from classifying investment securities as held-to-maturity for the current and the 
following two financial years. 

(iii)  loans and receivables

 loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an  
active market. such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs. subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the  
effective interest method, less any impairment losses. 

 For the purposes of this classification, loans and receivables are comprised of mortgages and loans, receiv-

(Note 2 continued)
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ables from reverse repurchase transactions, interest and dividends receivable, receivable for investments 
sold and other receivables in other assets on the Consolidated Balance sheet.  

 receivables from reverse repurchase transactions are carried at their initial acquisition cost with the dif-
ference between the acquisition cost and the selling price being recognised as investment income on the 
Consolidated statement of operations. reverse repurchase transactions are short-term holdings and are 
secured by collateral.

 interest and dividends receivable, receivable for investments sold and other receivables in other assets are 
short-term in nature and their carrying values approximate their fair values.

(iv)  Available-for-sale financial assets

 Available-for-sale financial assets are financial assets that are not classified in any of the previous catego-
ries. Certain equity securities of the group are classified as available-for-sale financial assets. these equi-
ties are subsequently carried at fair value except unquoted equities, which are carried at cost. Changes in 
fair value other than impairment losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented on 
the Consolidated statement of Comprehensive income/(loss). When an investment is derecognised, the 
cumulative gain or loss in other comprehensive income is transferred to the Consolidated statement of op-
erations. dividends earned on equities are recorded in investment income on the Consolidated statement 
of operations.

the group initially recognises loans and receivables at their date of inception. All other financial assets (including 
assets designated at FVtpl) are recognised initially on the trade date at which the group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. Balances pending settlement as a result of sales and purchases are reflect-
ed on the Consolidated Balance sheet as receivable for investments sold and payable for investments purchased.

2.6.1 (b) Derecognition and offsetting 

the group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or it 
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows of the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred, which is normally the trade date. Any 
interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the group is recognised as a separate asset or 
liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented on the Consolidated Balance sheet when, 
and only when, the group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

2.6.2  financial liabilities

2.6.2 (a) Classification and recognition of financial liabilities

the group has the following financial liabilities: (i) financial liabilities at FVtpl and (ii) other financial liabilities. 
management determines the classification at initial recognition.

(i)  fvTpl 

 the group’s financial liabilities at FVtpl relate to deposit accounted annuity policies shown under invest-
ment contract liabilities on the Consolidated Balance sheet. Contracts recorded at FVtpl are measured at 
fair value at inception and each subsequent reporting period. Changes in fair value of investment contract 
liabilities are recorded in gross change in contract liabilities on the Consolidated statement of operations 
(note 2.9.2). 

(ii)  other financial liabilities 

 All remaining financial liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities which include investment con-
tract liabilities related to the deposit administration pension plans and self-funded group health policies 
(note 2.9.2), payable for investments purchased, loan payable and Accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 
such financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 
subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effec-
tive interest method.

 payable for investments purchased, Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are considered short-term 
payables with no stated interest. the carrying amounts approximate fair value at the reporting date.

 the group initially recognised loan payable on the date that it originated. All other financial liabilities 
(including liabilities designated at FVtpl) are recognised initially on the trade date at which the group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
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2.6.2 (b) Derecognition

the group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired.

2.6.3  Derivative financial assets 

investments in derivative instruments are measured at FVtpl and are considered to be held for trading. derivatives 
are initially recognised at estimated fair value on the date into which a contract is entered. the attributable transac-
tion costs are recognised on the Consolidated statement of operations as incurred. these investments in derivative 
instruments are subsequently carried at estimated fair value. Changes in the estimated fair value of instruments 
that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised in investment income on the Consolidated statement of 
operations. the group does not hold any derivatives classified as hedging instruments. derivative financial assets 
and liabilities are reported net under investments on the Consolidated Balance sheet.

2.6.4  investment income 

interest is recorded as it accrues, using the effective interest method, in investment income on the Consolidated 
statement of operations. dividend income is recognised on the date the group’s right to receive payment is estab-
lished which, in the case of quoted securities, is normally the ex-dividend date.

2.7  iMpAiRMent oF ASSetS

2.7.1  impairment of financial assets 

the carrying amounts of the group’s financial assets, except those classified under FVtpl, are reviewed at each 
reporting date for impairment and reversal of previously recognised impairment losses. these assets are considered 
impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more loss events that have an impact that 
can be reliably estimated on the estimated future cash flows of the asset. objective factors that are considered when 
determining whether a financial asset or group of financial assets may be impaired include, but are not limited to, 
the following: 
•  negative rating agency announcements in respect of investment issuers and debtors; 
•  significant reported financial difficulties of investment issuers and debtors; 
•  actual breaches of credit terms such as persistent late payments or actual default;  
•  the disintegration of the active market(s) in which a particular asset is traded or deployed;  
•  adverse economic or regulatory conditions that may restrict future cash flows and asset recoverability;  
•  the withdrawal of any guarantee from statutory funds or sovereign agencies implicitly supporting the asset; and
• significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument below its cost.

2.7.1 (a) Held-to-maturity financial assets and Loans and receivables

the group considers evidence of impairment for Held-to-maturity investment assets and loans and receivables at 
both a specific asset and collective level. All individually significant Held-to-maturity financial assets and loans and 
receivables are assessed for specific impairment. those found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively 
assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified. Held-to-maturity financial assets and 
loans and receivables that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping  
together investments with similar risk characteristics. 

in assessing collective impairment, the group uses historical trends of the probability of default, the timing of recov-
eries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgments as to whether current economic and 
credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends. 
if there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on Held-to-maturity financial assets or loans and receivables 
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. the impairment loss is recognised in investment 
income on the Consolidated statement of operations and reflected in an allowance account against the Held-to-
maturity financial assets or loans and receivables.  

When an event occurring after the impairment was recognised causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, 
the decrease in impairment loss is reversed in investment income on the Consolidated statement of operations.

2.7.1 (b) Available-for-sale financial assets

When there is objective evidence that an available-for-sale asset is impaired, the loss accumulated in other compre-
hensive income is reclassified to the Consolidated statement of operations in investment income. the cumulative 
loss that is reclassified from other comprehensive income to investment income is the difference between the cost 
and the current fair value less any impairment loss recognised previously in investment income on the Consolidated 
statement of operations. impairment losses on available-for-sale equity securities are not reversed.

(Note 2 continued)
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2.7.1 (c) Investment in associates

When there is objective evidence that an investment in an associate is impaired, an impairment loss is measured by 
comparing the recoverable amount of the investment with its carrying value. the recoverable amount is determined 
in accordance with note 2.7.2.

An impairment loss is recognised in share of earnings/(loss) of associates on the Consolidated statement of                                                           
operations. reversal of a previously recognised impairment loss is made if there has been a favourable change in 
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.

2.7.2  impairment of non-financial assets

the carrying amounts of the group’s non-financial assets comprising of investment properties, property and 
equipment and intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine if there is objective evidence of                                      
impairment. objective factors that are considered when determining whether a non-financial asset may be impaired 
include, but are not limited to, the following: 
•  adverse economic, regulatory or environmental conditions that may restrict future cash flows and asset usage                                       

and/or recoverability; 
•  the likelihood of accelerated obsolescence arising from the development of new technologies and products; and
•  the disintegration of the active market(s) to which the asset is related.

if objective evidence of impairment exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is 
recognised in Amortisation, depreciation and impairment on the Consolidated statement of operations if the carry-
ing amount of an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. the recoverable amount of an asset is the greater 
of its value-in-use and its fair value less costs to sell. in assessing value-in-use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Assets which cannot be tested individually are grouped together 
into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of 
the cash inflows of other assets. 

2.8   inVeStMent pRopeRtieS

investment properties are real estate and real estate fractional units primarily held to earn rental income or held 
for capital appreciation. rental income from investment properties is recognised on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the lease. properties that do not meet these criteria are classified as property and equipment. expenditures 
related to ongoing maintenance of properties incurred subsequent to acquisition are expensed. investment proper-
ties are initially recognised at the transaction price including acquisition costs on the Consolidated Balance sheet. 
these properties are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in values recorded in investment income on 
the Consolidated statement of operations.

Fair values are evaluated regularly by an accredited independent valuation specialist to reflect market conditions at 
the reporting date. 

2.9   inSuRAnCe ContRACtS And inVeStMent ContRACtS

2.9.1  insurance contracts

insurance contracts are those contracts where the group has accepted significant insurance risk from the poli-
cyholders by agreeing to compensate the policyholders if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event) 
adversely affects the policyholders.

2.9.1 (a) Premiums and acquisition costs

premiums written from the group’s property and casualty and insured employee benefits operating segments as 
defined in note 2.18 are recognised as revenue over the terms of the policies. the reserve for unearned premiums 
represents that portion of premiums written that relates to the unexpired terms of the policies and are included 
in insurance contract liabilities on the Consolidated Balance sheet. life and annuity premiums are recognised as 
income when due.

Costs relating to the acquisition of property and casualty and insured employee benefits premiums are charged to 
income over the period of the policy. Acquisition costs are comprised of commissions and those associated with 
unearned premiums are deferred and are amortised to income over the periods in which the premiums are earned. 
this is shown as deferred policy acquisition costs on the Consolidated Balance sheet. policy acquisition costs related 
to unearned premiums are only deferred to the extent that they can be expected to be recovered from the unearned 
premiums. if the unearned premiums are insufficient to pay expected claims and expenses, a premium deficiency is 
recognised by writing down the deferred acquisition cost asset.
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2.9.1 (b) Receivables and payables related to insurance contracts

receivables and payables related to insurance contracts are recognised when due and measured on initial recogni-
tion at the fair value of the consideration receivable or payable. subsequent to initial recognition, insurance bal-
ances receivable and insurance balances payable are measured at amortised cost. the carrying value is reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable, with the 
impairment loss recorded in operating expenses on the Consolidated statement of operations.

insurance balances receivable and insurance balances payable are derecognised when the derecognition criteria for 
financial assets and financial liabilities, as described in note 2.6 have been met. 

2.9.1 (c) Reinsurance

reinsurance ceded premiums comprise the cost of reinsurance contracts into which the group has entered. reinsur-
ance premiums are recognised from the date the reinsurer has contracted to accept the risks and the amount of 
premium can be measured reliably. the provision for reinsurers’ share of unearned premium represents that part 
of reinsurance premiums ceded which are estimated to be earned in future financial periods. unearned reinsurance 
commissions are recognised as a liability using the same principles and are shown under insurance balances pay-
able on the Consolidated Balance sheet. the reinsurers’ share of claims provisions are estimated using the same 
methodology as the underlying losses. these represent the benefit derived from reinsurance agreements in force at 
the date of the Consolidated Balance sheet. Amounts due to or from reinsurers with respect to premiums or claims 
are included in insurance balances payable or insurance balances receivable on the Consolidated Balance sheet.

the group constantly monitors the credit worthiness of the reinsurance companies to which it cedes and assesses 
any reinsurance assets for impairment, with any impairment loss recognised as an expense on the Consolidated  
statement of operations in the period in which any impairment is determined.

2.9.1 (d) Insurance contract liabilities

insurance contract liabilities shown on the Consolidated Balance sheet include (i) life and annuity policy reserves 
and (ii) provision for unpaid and unreported claims.

(i)  life and annuity policy reserves

 life and annuity policy reserves are determined by the group’s actuaries and represent the amounts which, 
together with future premiums and investment income, are required to discharge the obligations under life 
and annuity contracts and to pay expenses related to the administration of those contracts. these reserves 
are determined using generally accepted actuarial practices according to standards established by the  
Canadian institute of Actuaries (CiA). the CiA requires the use of the Canadian Asset liability method 
(CAlm) for the valuation of actuarial liabilities for all lines of business. the policy actuarial liability reserves 
under CAlm are calculated by projecting asset and liability cash flows under a variety of interest rate 
scenarios using best-estimate assumptions, together with margins for adverse deviations with respect to 
other contingencies pertinent to the valuation. the policy actuarial liability reserves make provision for the 
expected experience scenario and for adverse deviations in experience.

(ii)  provision for unpaid and unreported claims

 provision for unpaid and unreported claims represents the best estimate of the ultimate costs of claims in 
the course of settlement and claims incurred but not yet reported. the provision is continually reviewed and 
updated by management and the group’s actuaries. Any adjustments resulting from the review process, as 
well as differences between estimates and ultimate payments, are reflected on the Consolidated statement 
of operations in the year in which they are determined. 

 provision for unpaid and unreported claims are not discounted.

2.9.2  investment contracts

Contracts issued that do not transfer significant insurance risk, but do transfer financial risk from the policyholder, 
are financial liabilities and are accounted for as investment contracts. service components of investment contracts 
are treated as service contracts. Fees earned from the service components of investment contracts are included on 
the  Consolidated statement of operations under Commissions, management fees and other.

liabilities for investment contracts are measured at FVtpl or amortised cost (note 2.6.2). 

(Note 2 continued)
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the following contracts are the investment contract liabilities of the group:

(i)   deposit administration pension plans are plans where the group’s liability is linked to contributions received, 
plus a predetermined and guaranteed return. the liability related to these plans is carried at amortised cost.

(ii)  self-funded group health policies are refund accounting agreements which provide for the retroactive adjust-
ment of premiums based upon the claims experience of the policyholder. under these agreements, any surplus 
arising is set off against future deficits or returned to the policyholder. Any deficit that may arise is set off 
against future surpluses or may be recovered in full, or in part, by lump sum payments from policyholders. As 
these agreements do not transfer insurance risk, funds received under these agreements are accounted for as 
investment contracts. Assets and liabilities arising from these type of policies are measured at amortised cost.

(iii)  deposit accounted annuity policies relate to policies which do not transfer significant insurance risk but  trans-
fer financial risk to the policyholders. these are measured at FVtpl.

2.10   pRopeRtY And equipMent

owner-occupied properties and all other assets classified as property and equipment are stated at cost less accu-
mulated depreciation and impairment. subsequent costs are included in the assets’ carrying amount only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. the costs of the day-to-day servicing of property and equipment are recognised as incurred in 
operating expenses on the Consolidated statement of operations.

depreciation is calculated so as to write the assets off over their estimated useful lives at the following rates per                                              
annum:
 Buildings  2.5%
 Computer equipment  20% – 33%
 Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements  10% – 15%

the assets’ residual values, useful lives and method of depreciation are reviewed regularly, at a minimum at the end 
of each fiscal year, and adjusted if appropriate. Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount, it is considered to be impaired and it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. in 
the event of an improvement in the estimated recoverable amount, the related impairment may be reversed. gains 
and losses on disposal of property and equipment are determined by reference to their carrying amount, and are 
recognised in Commissions, management fees and other on the Consolidated statement of operations.

2.11   intAnGiBle ASSetS

intangible assets include Customer lists and Website costs.

(i) Customer lists

these are finite intangible assets, which are initially measured at fair value by estimating the net present value 
of future cash flows from the contracts in force at the date of acquisition. these are amortised on a straight-line 
basis over their estimated useful lives, which range between 10 to 16 years.

(ii) Website costs

Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred, unless they relate to the acquisition or de-
velopment of an asset, when they may be capitalised. generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during 
the planning phase of a website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operation phase are expensed. 
Costs incurred in building or enhancing a website, to the extent that they represent probable future economic 
benefits that can be reliably measured, are capitalised. Website costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over 
the estimated useful life, which is 3 years.

subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific 
asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in operating expenses on the Consolidated statement of 
operations as incurred.

management reviews annually the remaining portion of intangible assets based upon estimates of future earnings 
and recognises any permanent impairment in Amortisation, depreciation and impairment on the Consolidated state-
ment of operations in the year in which it is identified.

2.12  SeGReGAted FundS

segregated funds are lines of business in which the group issues a contract where the benefit amount is directly 
linked to the fair value of the investments held in the particular segregated fund. Although the underlying assets are 
registered in the name of the group and the segregated fund contract holder has no direct access to the specific  
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assets, the contractual arrangements are such that the segregated fund policyholder bears the risk and rewards 
of the fund’s investment performance. in addition, certain segregated fund contracts include a guaranteed rate of 
return.

segregated funds are carried at fair value except for mortgages and policy loans which are carried at amortised 
cost and unpaid balance. Fair values are determined using quoted market values or, where quoted market values are 
not available, estimated fair values as determined by the group. segregated fund assets may not be applied against  
liabilities that arise from any other business of the group. the investment results of the segregated funds are 
reflected directly in segregated fund liabilities except for segregated funds with a guaranteed return where the 
excess or deficiency of the return on the assets over the guaranteed return is reflected in investment income on 
the Consolidated statement of operations. For the segregated funds where the benefit amount is directly linked to 
the fair value of the investments, the group derives only fee income which is included within Commissions, manage-
ment fees and other on the Consolidated statement of operations. deposits to segregated funds are reported as in-
creases in segregated funds liabilities and are not reported as income on the Consolidated statement of operations. 

2.13  eMploYee BeneFitS

post-employment benefits  

the group operates a defined benefit plan which provides medical benefits to eligible retired employees and their 
spouses. the group accrues the cost of these defined benefits over the periods in which the employees earn the 
benefits. the post-employment benefit liability is calculated using the projected unit credit actuarial cost method. 
the present value of the defined benefit liability is determined by discounting the estimate of future cash flows using 
interest rates of AA rated corporate bonds that have terms to maturity that approximate the terms of the related 
post-employment benefit liability.

Actuarial gains and losses are immediately recognised in operating expenses on the Consolidated statement of  
operations.

pensions

the group operates a defined contribution plan. on payment of contributions to the plan there is no further legal or 
constructive obligation to the group. Contributions are recognised as employee benefits on the Consolidated state-
ment of operations under operating expenses in the period to which they relate.

stock-based compensation

the group has two stock-based compensation plans for eligible employees, namely the stock option plan and the 
restricted stock plan.

the stock option plan is accounted for under the fair value method. the fair value of stock-based awards is deter-
mined using the Black-scholes option pricing model and is amortised over the applicable vesting period as compen-
sation expense on the Consolidated statement of operations under operating expenses and on the Consolidated 
statement of Changes in equity under Contributed surplus.

the restricted stock plan is accounted for under the fair value method. the fair value of each share granted under 
the restricted stock plan is based upon the market price at the date of grant. the estimated fair value is recognised 
as an expense pro-rata over the vesting period, adjusted for the impact of any non-market vesting conditions. 

At each reporting date, the group reviews its estimate of the number of shares that are expected to become ex-
ercisable. it recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, on the Consolidated statement of 
operations, and a corresponding adjustment is made to Contributed surplus over the remaining vesting period. on 
exercise, the differences between the expense charged to the Consolidated statement of operations and the actual 
cost to the group is transferred to Contributed surplus. 

2.14  tAxAtion

Current and deferred tax is recognised on the Consolidated statement of operations, except when it relates to items 
recognised in other comprehensive income, in which case the current and deferred tax is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

Current tax is based on the taxable result for the period. the taxable result for the period differs from the result as 
reported on the Consolidated statement of operations because it excludes items which are non-assessable or disal-
lowed and it further excludes items that are taxable or deductible in other periods. it is calculated using tax rates 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

deferred tax is generally recognised for all temporary differences. deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent 

(Note 2 continued)
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that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 
the carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be utilised. 
deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the li-
ability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset when the group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised 
amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the group has a legally enforceable right to settle its current tax 
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

2.15  SHARe CApitAl

Common shares

Common shares are classified as equity. incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares are 
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

Treasury shares

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes direct 
attributable costs, net of any tax effects, is recognised as a deduction from equity. repurchased shares are classified 
and presented under treasury shares on the Consolidated statement of Changes in equity. When treasury shares 
are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is recognised as an increase in equity, and the resulting 
surplus or deficit on the transaction is presented in Contributed surplus on the Consolidated statement of Changes 
in equity.

2.16  leASeS

the group is a lessor and a lessee of assets, primarily in connection with office space leases. transactions where 
substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership are transferred from the lessor to the lessee are account-
ed for as finance leases. All other leases are accounted for as operating leases. the group’s leases are all accounted 
for as operating leases.

the group’s assets held for leasing are included in property and equipment and investment properties. rental in-
come from operating leases is recorded as revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. this is shown 
under investment income on the Consolidated statement of operations.

For leases where the group is the lessee, payments are charged to operating expenses on the Consolidated state-
ment of operations on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

2.17  eARninGS peR SHARe

Basic earnings per share is presented on the Consolidated statement of operations and is calculated by dividing net 
earnings by the time-weighted average number of shares in issue during the year.

For the purpose of calculating fully diluted earnings per share, the time-weighted average number of shares in issue 
has been adjusted to reflect the additional shares that would have resulted had all stock options outstanding been 
exercised and in issue throughout the year. When there is a loss, no potential common shares are included in the 
computation of fully diluted earnings per share.

2.18  SeGMent RepoRtinG

An operating segment is a component of the group that engages in business activities from which it may earn rev-
enues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the group’s other 
components. the group is organised into operating segments based on their products, services and location. these 
operating segments mainly operate in the financial services industry and reflect the management structure and 
internal financial reporting of the group. All operating segments’ results are reviewed regularly by the group’s Chief  
executive officer (Ceo) to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its perfor-
mance, and for which discrete financial information is available.

segment results that are reported to the Ceo include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that 
can be allocated on a reasonable basis. revenue from the operating segments is derived primarily from insurance 
premium, fees and commission income, investment income and fair value gains and losses on investments.

the group has four reportable segments as follows:

(i) insured employee benefits – including group health, life and long-term disability and employer’s indemnity  
 coverage;
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(ii) life and pensions – including individual life insurance, annuities and group retirement income plans;

(iii) property and casualty – including fire and windstorm (home and commercial property), all risks, liability, 
marine and motor coverage in Bermuda, gibraltar and malta; and

(iv) All other – representing the combined operations of the remaining components of the group comprising two 
management companies, a holding company and an investment management services company.

At march 31, 2013, the group changed the reportable segment of the holding company. previously, this was reported 
under property and casualty. this was changed to All other to better align the reportable segments with the group 
internal reporting structure.

2.19  neW ACCountinG pRonounCeMentS

there are a number of accounting and reporting changes issued under iFrs including those still under development 
by the iAsB. A summary of the recently issued new accounting standards that will impact the group in 2014 and 
beyond is as follows:

TopiC  effeCTive DATe for The group   expeCTeD iMpACT 

Amendments to iAs 19,   April 1, 2013  Could have a significant
employee Benefits  impact on net earnings 

iFrs 13, Fair Value measurement  April 1, 2013  no significant impact 

iFrs 10, iFrs 12 and amendments to                   April 1, 2013               no significant impact,
iAs 27, iAs 28 regarding consolidation,   with the exception of 
disclosures and related matters  iFrs 10, where impact 
  assessment is in progress  

Amendments to iAs 1,           April 1, 2013        no significant impact
presentation of Financial statements    

Amendments to iFrs 7,             April 1, 2013        no significant impact 
Financial instruments: disclosure     

Amendments to iAs 32,       April 1, 2014         impact assessment  
Financial instruments: presentation  in progress 

iFrs 9, Financial instruments             on or after            impact assessment    
 April 1, 2015 in progress 

iFrs 4, insurance Contracts (phase ii)         expected to be effective    impact assessment
 not earlier than 2018 in progress based on
  revised exposure draft 

Amendments to iAs 19, employee Benefits (iAs 19)

the amendments to iAs 19 were issued in June 2011. the amendments require full recognition of actuarial gains and 
losses in other comprehensive income when they occur and are no longer recognised on the Consolidated state-
ment of operations. past service costs will be recognised when a plan is amended with no deferral over the vesting 
period. the service cost and finance cost components will continue to be recognised on the Consolidated statement 
of operations. Finance costs will be calculated using interest rates based on high quality corporate bond yields.                                    
Furthermore, the amendments include enhanced disclosures about the characteristics of the benefits and the risks 
to which the entity is exposed through participation in those benefits.

upon adoption, the net cumulative actuarial loss arising from the group’s own defined benefit liability, amounting to 
$2.4 million as of march 31, 2013, will be reclassified from retained earnings to Accumulated other comprehensive 
income. in addition, upon adoption, the group’s investment in an associate with a defined benefit liability is expected 
to result in a decrease in the group’s equity of approximately $1.1 million.

(Note 2 continued)
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ifrs 13, fair value Measurement (ifrs 13)

iFrs 13 was issued in may 2011 and replaces existing iFrs guidance on fair value measurement with a single standard.

iFrs 13 defines fair value, provides guidance on how to determine fair value and requires disclosures about fair value 
measurements. iFrs 13 does not change the requirements regarding which items should be measured or disclosed at 
fair value. the adoption of iFrs 13 will result in additional financial statement disclosure but is not expected to have 
a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of the group.

ifrs 10, Consolidated financial statements (ifrs 10), including:

Amendments to iAs 27, separate financial statements (iAs 27)

ifrs 12, Disclosure of interests in other entities (ifrs 12)

Amendments to iAs 28, investments in Associates (iAs 28)

iFrs 10, amendments to iAs 27, iFrs 12 and amendments to iAs 28 were all issued in may 2011 to improve consolida-
tion accounting.

iFrs 10 replaces the consolidation guidance in iAs 27 and standing interpretations Committee 12, Consolidation – 
special purpose entities, by introducing a single consolidation model for all entities based on control, irrespective 
of the nature of the investee. under iFrs 10, control is based on whether an investor has 1) power over the investee; 
2) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 3) the ability to use its power 
over the investee to affect the amount of the returns. the group is evaluating the impact of adopting iFrs 10 on the 
segregated funds. specific issues under discussion and interpretation internationally related to segregated funds 
include how to assess variable returns, how the level of legal segregation of a segregated fund would influence the 
consolidation assessment, and the presentation of a segregated fund on the consolidated financial statements if it is 
concluded that a fund should be consolidated.

iFrs 12 requires enhanced disclosures about both consolidated and unconsolidated entities in which an entity has 
involvement. the objective of iFrs 12 is to present information so that financial statement users may evaluate the 
basis of control, any restrictions on consolidated assets and liabilities, risk exposures arising from involvement with 
unconsolidated structured entities and non-controlling interest holders’ involvement in the activities of consolidated 
entities. the adoption of iFrs 12 will result in additional financial statement disclosure but is not expected to have a 
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of the group.

iAs 28 is amended for conforming changes based on the issuance of iFrs 10 and iFrs 12 and the adoption of these 
amendments is not expected to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of the group.

Amendments to iAs 1, presentation of financial statements (iAs 1)

An amendment to iAs 1 was issued in June 2011 requiring changes to the presentation of items within other com-
prehensive income. under the amendments, presentation of items within other comprehensive income will be sepa-
rately presented based on whether or not the item will be subsequently reclassified into the Consolidated statement 
of operations. the adoption of these amendments is not expected to have a significant impact on the consolidated 
financial statements of the group.

Amendments to ifrs 7, financial instruments: Disclosure (ifrs 7)

these amendments require an entity to disclose information about rights to set-off and related arrangements (e.g. 
collateral agreements). the disclosures would provide users with information that is useful in evaluating the effect of 
netting arrangements on the entity’s financial position. the new disclosures are required for all recognised financial 
instruments that are set-off in accordance with iAs 32. the disclosures also apply to recognised financial instru-
ments that are subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar agreement, irrespective of whether 
they are set-off in accordance with iAs 32. these amendments will not have a significant impact on the group’s 
financial position or performance.

Amendments to iAs 32, financial instruments: presentation (iAs 32)

the amendments to iAs 32, issued in december 2011, clarify the basis for offsetting financial instruments presented 
on the Consolidated Balance sheet. the amendments to iAs 32 are effective for fiscal years beginning on or after 
January 1, 2014. the group is currently assessing the impact of these amendments on its consolidated financial 
statements.

ifrs 9, financial instruments (ifrs 9)

iFrs 9 was issued in november 2009 and amended in october 2010, and is the first phase of a three-phase project 
to replace iAs 39, Financial instruments: recognition and measurement. iFrs 9 currently provides that financial as-
sets are measured at either amortised cost or fair value on the basis of the entity’s business model for managing the 
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financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. the classification and measure-
ment for financial liabilities remains generally unchanged. However, revisions have been made to the accounting for 
changes in fair value of a financial liability attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability. the other phases 
of this project, which are currently under development, include impairment and hedge accounting.

the group is currently assessing the impact of iFrs 9 on its consolidated financial statements.

ifrs 4, insurance Contracts (ifrs 4)

iFrs 4, issued in march 2004, specifies the financial reporting for insurance contracts by an insurer. the current 
standard is phase i in the iAsB’s insurance contract project and does not specify the recognition or measurement 
of insurance contracts. this will be addressed in phase ii of the iAsB’s and the u.s. Financial Accounting standards 
Board’s (FAsB) joint project.

in July 2010 the iAsB issued its insurance Contracts (phase ii) exposure draft and the FAsB issued its insurance 
Contract discussion paper. the insurance contract project is considered a “joint project” whereby the iAsB and FAsB 
(the Boards) discuss common research papers. A due process step for joint projects also involves assessing differ-
ences recognised by the two Boards and determining if they can be resolved.

in June 2013, the iAsB issued a revised exposure draft of its proposals, with a 120 day comment period. since publish-
ing its first exposure draft in July 2010, the iAsB has undertaken extensive outreach activities with a broad range 
of stakeholders. industry concerns that the proposed measurement model would increase the volatility of reported 
results when compared with most current models have been a central theme for the iAsB’s discussions.

the final standard is not likely to be issued until the second half of 2014 and is not expected to be effective before 
January 1, 2018.

the draft proposals include a number of significant changes in the measurement and disclosure of insurance con-
tracts. the group will continue to monitor the progress of the project in order to assess the potential impact the new 
standard will have on its results and the presentation and disclosure thereof.

 3 inVeStMentS

3.1  Carrying values and estimated fair values of investments are as follows:

   MArCh 31, 2013 mArCH 31, 2012  

   Carrying fair Carrying  Fair
   value value Value  Value

investments at fvTpl    
 Bonds  151,248  151,248 79,974 79,974
 equities 49,049 49,049 45,597 45,597   

     200,297   200,297 125,57 1 125,57 1      

held-to-maturity
 Bonds 5,237 5,340 6,046 6,006

     5,237   5,340 6,046 6,006

Available-for-sale
 equities 3,704 3,704 4, 177 4, 177

     3,704   3,704 4, 177 4, 177

loans and receivables
 mortgages and loans 41,236  41,835 46,650 47,533
 receivables from reverse repurchase transactions -  - 2,700 2,700
 policy loans 66 66 61 61

       41,302   41,901 49,41 1      50,294

Derivatives    
 interest rate swaps  5  5 (45) (45)
 Foreign currency forward contracts (27) (27) (92) (92)   

     (22)   (22) (137) (137)

ToTAl invesTMenTs 250,518   251,220 185,068 185,9 1 1

(Note 2 continued)
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Fair values for bonds in active markets are determined using quoted prices provided by third party independent 
pricing sources.  

Fair values for equities are generally determined by quoted prices from the exchange where it is principally traded. 
Fair values for equities for which there is no active market are carried at cost, net of any provision for losses. Fair 
values for investments in hedge funds and private equity funds are derived using net asset values from the invest-
ment manager or general partner of the respective entity. 

Fair values for mortgages and loans are determined by discounting expected future cash flows using current 
market rates. receivables from reverse repurchase transactions are carried at their initial acquisition cost with 
the difference between the acquisition cost and the selling price being recognised as investment income on the 
Consolidated statement of operations. reverse repurchase transactions are short-term holdings and are secured 
with collateral. the carrying value approximates fair value.

derivative financial instruments derive their value from the underlying instrument and are subject to the same 
risks as that underlying instrument, including liquidity, credit and market risk. estimated fair values are based on 
exchange or broker-dealer quotations, where available, or discounted cash flow models, which incorporate the 
pricing of the underlying instrument, yield curves and other factors. 

3.2 FinAnCiAl ASSetS MeASuRed At FAiR VAlue on tHe ConSolidAted BAlAnCe SHeet

the group uses the following hierarchy for determining fair value of financial instruments by valuation techniques: 

level 1 – Fair value is based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in an active market. the 
investments classified as level 1 include u.s. treasury securities and exchange-traded equities. 

level 2 – Fair value is based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets. the valuation is 
based on significant observable inputs or inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable 
market data through correlation or other means. the investments classified as level 2 include investments in 
hedge funds, mutual funds and all exchange-traded bonds except u.s. treasury securities.

level 3 – Fair value is based on valuation techniques that require one or more significant inputs that are not 
based on observable market inputs. these unobservable inputs reflect the group’s assumptions about the market 
participants in pricing the investments. the investments classified as level 3 include investments in private equity 
funds and unquoted equities.

the following table shows an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the fair value                                        
hierarchy:

MArCh 31, 2013  level 1  level 2  level 3  Total

investments at fvTpl     
 Bonds  
     us government and agency  30,583    16, 1 71  - 46,754
  other government and agency  -    8,413 - 8,413
  Corporate  -    63,415 - 63,415
  mortgage/asset-backed securities  -    13,291 - 13,291
  other (1)  -    19,375 - 19,375
 equities  
  Bermuda listed equities  22,1 76 - - 22, 176
  non-Bermuda listed equities  6,104 - - 6, 104
  investment in hedge funds and mutual funds  - 20,589 - 20,589
  private equity funds and unquoted equities  - - 180 180

    58,863 141,254 180 200,297

Available-for-sale – equities  
  Bermuda listed equities  - - - -
  non-Bermuda listed equities  - - - -
  investment in hedge funds and mutual funds  - - - -
  private equity funds and unquoted equities  - - 3,704 3,704
Derivatives   - (22) - (22)   

ToTAl invesTMenTs AT fAir vAlue   58,863 141,232 3,884 203,979

(1) investment in bond funds
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mArCH 31, 2012  level 1 level 2 level 3 total

investments at fvTpl    
 Bonds   
  us government and agency   14,920   9,558   -     24,478
  other government and agency   -   4,618   -     4,618
  Corporate   -   36,427   -     36,427
  mortgage/asset-backed securities   -   12,082   -    12,082
  other (1)   - 2,369 - 2,369
 equities   
  Bermuda listed equities   21,070   -   -   21,070
  non-Bermuda listed equities   5,021   -   -     5,02 1
  investment in hedge funds and mutual funds   -   18,166   -     18,166
  private equity funds and unquoted equities    -   -   1,340     1,340

  41,0 1 1   83,220   1,340   125,571 

Available-for-sale – equities  
  private equity funds and unquoted equities  -   -   4,1 77     4,1 77
Derivatives   -     (137)   -     (137) 

totAl inVestments At FAir VAlue  41,01 1    83,083   5,517   129,6 1 1 

(1) investment in bond funds

included within Bonds – other and equities – investment in hedge funds and mutual funds are $25.3 million of invest-
ments in Argus investment strategies Fund ltd. this fund has been classified between Bonds and equities based 
on the underlying securities held. Valuation is performed on a weekly basis and investors are able to redeem the 
shares weekly, unless the value of redemption is more than 10 percentage of the net asset value of the fund, when 
the amount of the redemption is at the fund’s discretion. 

the following table shows a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for financial assets which are  
categorised at level 3.

 
MArCh 31, 2013  invesTMenTs 

  At fvTpl Available-  
   for-sale 

   equities equities  Total

Balance, beginning of year       1,340   4, 1 77   5,51 7  
included in investment income    - -  -   
included in other comprehensive income   - 24  24
purchases   - -  -
sales   (1, 1 60) (497) (1,657)

BAlAnCe, enD of yeAr        180   3,704   3,884 

For tHe yeAr ended mArCH 31, 2012  inVestments  
 
  At FVtpl Available-  
   for-sale 

   equities equities total

Balance, beginning of year     1,326  4,347   5,673  
included in investment income     -  36   36 
included in other comprehensive income    -     (35)  (35)
purchases    14    299   313 
sales   -  (470)  (470)

BAlAnCe, end oF yeAr        1,340   4,1 77   5,5 1 7 

(Note 3 continued)
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3.3  ReCeiVABleS FRoM ReVeRSe RepuRCHASe tRAnSACtionS

the group’s investment in reverse repurchase agreement contracts are commitments to resell bonds purchased 
at a higher price at a specific future date. reverse repurchase transactions expose the group to credit risk from 
the potential inability of counterparties to perform under the terms of the contract. the risk is mitigated by credit 
risk evaluation of the counterparty and holding the securities purchased as collateral. under these agreements, 
the group received $2.7 million on April 2, 2012. the group has $nil investment in reverse repurchase agreement 
contracts at march 31, 2013. market and liquidity risks and how these risks are mitigated are disclosed in note 13.3.

3.4  deRiVAtiVe FinAnCiAl inStRuMentS

the group’s investment guidelines permit the investment managers to utilise derivative financial instruments such 
as foreign currency futures, interest rate swaps and foreign currency forwards for yield enhancement, duration 
management, interest rate and foreign currency exposure management or to obtain an exposure to a particular 
financial market. these positions are monitored regularly. the group principally has exposure to derivatives 
related to foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and credit risk.

the net income/(losses) arising from the group’s derivative financial instruments recognised as investment income 
on the Consolidated statement of operations are as follows:

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31 2013   2012

Derivative financial instruments    
 money market futures      - (30)
 interest rate swaps       160 (37 1 )
 Foreign currency forward receivable     237 (1,01 3)

ToTAl neT inCoMe/(losses) froM DerivATive finAnCiAl insTruMenTs    397 (1,4 14)

3.4.1  Money Market futures

Futures provide the group with participation in market movements, determined by the underlying instrument on 
which the futures contract is based, without holding the instrument itself or the individual securities. this approach 
allows the group more efficient and less costly access to the exposure than would be available by the exclusive use 
of individual fixed income and money market securities. Futures contracts may also be used as substitutes for own-
ership of the physical securities. All futures contracts are held on a non-leveraged basis. An initial margin is provid-
ed, which is a deposit of cash and/or securities in an amount equal to a prescribed percentage of the contract value. 
the fair value of futures contracts is estimated daily and the margin is adjusted accordingly with unrealised gains  
and/or losses settled daily in cash and/or securities. A realised gain or loss is recognised when the contract is closed.

Futures contracts expose the group to credit, market and liquidity risks. the group is exposed to credit risks to the 
extent that the counterparties are not able to perform under the terms of the contract. market risk arises when 
adverse changes occur in the estimated fair values of the underlying securities.

liquidity risk represents the possibility that the group may not be able rapidly to adjust the size of its forward posi-
tions at a reasonable price in times of high volatility and financial stress. exchange-traded futures are, however, 
subject to a number of safeguards to ensure that obligations are met, including the use of clearing houses, the 
posting of margins and the daily settlement of unrealised gains and losses and counterparty credit risk evaluation. 
Credit, market and liquidity risks and how these risks are mitigated are disclosed in note 13.3.

At march 31, 2013, the notional amount of outstanding money market futures amounted to $2.5 million (2012 – $2.5 
million).

3.4.2  interest rate swaps

swaps are used to manage interest rate exposure, portfolio duration or capitalise on anticipated changes in inter-
est rate volatility without investing directly in the underlying securities. swaps are recorded at estimated fair val-
ues at the end of each period with unrealised gains and losses recorded in investment income on the Consolidated 
statement of operations.

interest rate swap agreements entail the exchange of commitments to pay or receive interest, such as an exchange 
of floating rate payments for fixed rate payments, with respect to a notional amount of principal. these agreements 
involve elements of credit and market risk. such risks include the possibility that there may not be a liquid market, 
that the counterparty may default on its obligation to perform or that there may be unfavourable movements in 
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interest rates. Credit risk is mitigated by making collateral calls to mitigate exposure and counterparty credit risk 
evaluation. Credit, market and liquidity risks and how these risks are mitigated are disclosed in note 13.3.

At march 31, 2013, the group has open interest rate swaps with long positions of $500,000 and short positions of 
$3.0 million (2012 – long positions of $nil and short positions of $nil).

3.4.3  foreign Currency forwards

A foreign currency forward contract is a commitment to purchase or sell a foreign currency at a future date at a 
defined rate. the group may utilise foreign currency forward contracts to manage the impact of fluctuations in 
foreign currencies on the value of its foreign currency denominated investments or to gain exposure to a certain 
currency or market rate. Forward contracts may expose the group to credit, market and liquidity risks. Credit 
risk arises from the potential inability of counterparties to perform under the terms of the contract. the group is 
exposed to market risk to the extent that adverse changes occur in the exchange rate of the underlying foreign 
currency. liquidity risk represents the possibility that the group may not be able rapidly to adjust the size of its 
forward positions at a reasonable price in times of high volatility and financial stress. Credit risk is mitigated by 
making collateral calls to mitigate exposure and counterparty credit risk evaluation. Credit, market and liquidity 
risks and how these risks are mitigated are disclosed in note 13.3.

the group had the following open foreign currency forward contracts:

      MArCh 31, 2013

      notional  notional
      receivable  payable

Australian dollar     1,847 -
Canadian dollar     1,096 -
euro     1, 1 1 3  545

      mArCH 31, 2012

      notional  notional
      receivable  payable

Australian dollar     1,748 -
Canadian dollar     1, 102 -
euro     1, 1 34 -
Chinese yuan     9,625 9,625
indian rupee     7,720 7,720
Japanese yen      14,001 -
malaysian ringgit     1,001 1,001

At march 31, 2013, the u.s. dollar equivalent of outstanding foreign currency forward contracts with long positions 
and short positions amounted to $4.4 million and $700,000 respectively (2012 – $4.8 million and $2.0 million). 

(Note 3 continued)
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3.5  inVeStMent inCoMe

  
For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31 2013 2012

interest income   
 Bonds – at FVtpl 6,505  6,557
 Bonds – held-to-maturity 344  364 
  mortgages and loans 2,680  3, 1 16 
 Cash and other 195 648  

   9,724 10,685

Dividend income    
 equities – at FVtpl  1,380 1,264
 equities – available-for-sale 322 360

   1,702 1,624

net realised gains/(losses) on sale of investments    
 Bonds – at FVtpl  3,456 2,830
 equities – at FVtpl  358 (2,857)
 equities – available-for-sale  - 35
 derivative financial instruments  272 (1, 174)

   4,086 (1, 166)

other
 Amortisation of premium on bonds  (1,1 60) (1, 1 41)
 rental income and other 884 1,3 17
 recovery of previously recognised impairment loss/(impairment loss)   
  Bonds – held-to-maturity 208 (310)
  mortgages and loans (2,823) (401)

   (2,89 1) (535)

invesTMenT inCoMe Before DeDuCTions AnD ChAnge in fAir vAlue 12,621 10,608

Deductions    
 investment income relating to deposit administration pension plans  (830) (4,084)
 investment income relating to segregated funds with guaranteed return (2,517) -

   (3,347) (4,084)

Change in fair value arising from    
 Bonds  2,679 4,204
 equities  3,745 (407)
 derivative financial instruments  125 (240)
 investment property  (24) 8

   6,525 3,565

invesTMenT inCoMe 15,799 10,089
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 4 inVeStMent in ASSoCiAteS 

the group holds equity interests in certain companies incorporated in Bermuda and has significant influence over 
the operational and financial policies of these companies. 

investment in associates is comprised of:

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31 2013   2012

investment in other associates     11,918     11,404
investment in northstar group Holdings, ltd.  -     -(1)

ToTAl invesTMenT in AssoCiATes  11,918     11,404

 (1) see note 4.2
 

 proportionate share of earnings/(loss) of associates for the year is as follows:

 For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31 2013   2012

 investment in other associates 714 (1,580)
 investment in northstar group Holdings, ltd. - (10,617)

ToTAl shAre of eArnings/(loss) of AssoCiATes 714 (12,197)

summarised financial information of the group’s associates is as follows:

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31 2013   2012

Assets     67,122     66,888
liabilities     26,24 1     27, 1 2 1
net assets     40,88 1     39,767
revenue     52,809     45,938
net income (loss)   1,990 (4,035)

Whilst the group has 40% ownership of a local private company, it has no significant influence over the company’s 
operational and financial policies due to restrictive voting rights. this investment is included in note 3 under 
Available-for-sale equities and is recorded at cost.

4.1  inVeStMent in otHeR ASSoCiAteS

$8.3 million (2012 – $8.1 million) of the group’s investment in other associates relates to an investment in an associ-
ate whose shares are publicly traded. the fair value of the group’s interest based on the market price of the associ-
ate’s shares is $4.5 million (2012 – $4.1 million). As the fair value is lower than the equity of the investment in other 
associate, an impairment review and evaluation on the going concern basis was performed. the group believes that 
the recoverable amount of the investment using the value-in-use method is higher than the published fair value 
because the market price continues to reflect ongoing uncertainty and volatility to the local economy as opposed to 
the fundamental long-term value of this investment. the recoverable amount under the value-in-use method is also 
higher than the equity of the investment in associate.

during 2012, the associate discontinued certain operations of which the group’s share was a net loss of $410,000.

4.2  inVeStMent in noRtHStAR GRoup HoldinGS, ltd. (nGH)

during fiscal 2011, the group obtained significant influence over ngH through an increase in voting rights as part 
of an agreement whereby, inter alia, the $16.8 million of promissory notes previously due to this affiliate were can-
celled; effectively reducing the cost of this investment from $50 million to $33.2 million. this value, in the opinion 
of management, then approximated its fair value as at march 31, 2011, when the investment was re-classified from 
equities-available-for-sale to investment in associates on the Consolidated Balance sheet. 

ngH is a holding company and its wholly owned subsidiary, northstar reinsurance ireland limited (nril), transacted 
life reinsurance business. no new treaties had been written since 2006 and all treaties were closed to new business 
several years ago.  



Argus group Holdings limited          2013 AnnuAl RepoRt          45

under the terms of ngH’s shareholder agreement each shareholder is required to cover a shortfall arising from any 
other shareholder’s inability to meet their obligation. in late 2011 negotiations were concluded with a third party to 
novate one treaty and recapture the second. nril then ceased to do business and has now been placed into mem-
bers’ voluntary liquidation. 

there are various financial commitments due to ngH from other shareholders which are collateralised by various 
assets. these assets include holdings in hedge funds and equities, the valuation of which is inherently uncertain and, 
in the case of one major shareholder, events have suggested the charged assets may realise values that will not be 
sufficient to satisfy their obligations. the ultimate distribution of capital to the group is dependent on the collec-
tion of the amounts due. during the year ended march 31, 2012, management had determined that the value of the 
investment in ngH should be treated as impaired to the extent of the likely inability of this one shareholder to meet 
its aforementioned obligations.

the group’s proportionate share of this obligation is $10.6 million and this write down has been reflected in the 
share of (loss)/earnings of associates on the Consolidated statement of operations for the year ended march 31, 
2012. the group intends to pursue the recovery of this write down to the fullest extent under law.

prior to march 31, 2012, and following the receipt of interim distributions from contributed surplus to ngH sharehold-
ers, Argus received $20.6 million in cash. the residual balance of the investment in ngH is now represented by a 
fully collateralised and performing three-year loan of $2 million to another ngH shareholder which is included under 
mortgages and loans on the Consolidated Balance sheet. 

 5 inSuRAnCe BAlAnCeS ReCeiVABle

insurance balances receivable is comprised of:

MArCh 31, 2013  insured   property   
  employee  life and and  
  Benefits pensions Casualty Total

due from policyholders, agents and brokers  8,948 1,062 6,687 16,697
due from reinsurers  1,772 - - 1,772

ToTAl insurAnCe BAlAnCes reCeivABle  10,720 1,062 6,687 18,469

mArCH 31, 2012  insured   property   
  employee life and and   
  Benefits pensions Casualty  total

due from policyholders, agents and brokers  6,893 1,540 8,806 17,239
due from reinsurers  1,975 2,950 - 4,925

totAl insurAnCe BAlAnCes reCeiVABle  8,868 4,490 8,806 22,164

 6  inVeStMent pRopeRtieS
  

    Fair value

Balance, march 31, 2011    7,006
Additions    -
Fair value gains and losses    8
Foreign exchange rate movements    (4)

Balance, march 31, 2012     7,010 
Additions    -
Fair value gains and losses    (24)
Foreign exchange rate movements    (50)

BAlAnCe, MArCh 31, 2013     6,936
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the group’s investment properties consist of a residential apartment and condominium fractional units which are 
held for rental income. investment properties are stated at fair value.

the valuations of the investment properties were performed as at march 31, 2013, and march 31, 2012, by industry 
specialists who have recent experience in the location and category of the investment property being valued.

the group enters into operating leases for certain investment properties. the rental income arising during the year 
amounted to $152,000 (2012 – $234,000), which is included in investment income on the Consolidated statement 
of operations. direct operating expenses included within investment income arising in respect of such properties 
during the year were $251,000 (2012 – $220,000).

there are no restrictions on the realisability of investment properties or the remittance of income and proceeds 
of disposal. the group has no contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop the investment properties 
other than normal service charge arrangements.

 7  otHeR ASSetS
        
For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31    2013 2012

other financial assets     
 Fees receivable    1,559 1,634 
 receivable from self-funded group health policies    2,653 1,851
 receivable for investments sold    366 -
 notes and other receivables    1,465 1,258

ToTAl oTher finAnCiAl AsseTs     6,043 4,743 
income tax receivable    230 140
prepaid expenses    1,709 2,200

ToTAl oTher AsseTs    7,982 7,083 

Carrying amounts approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these assets.

 8  deFeRRed poliCY ACquiSition CoStS 

 the reconciliation between opening and closing deferred policy acquisition costs is shown below:
    
For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31  2013 2012

Balance, beginning of year  2,295 2, 135
deferral during the year  3,873 3,555
expense for the year  (3,885) (3,390) 
Foreign exchange rate movements  (101) (5)

BAlAnCe, enD of yeAr  2,182 2,295
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 9 pRopeRtY And equipMent
    
     Furniture
  land and Computer and other  
  buildings  equipment  equipment  total

gross carrying amount       
Balance, march 31, 2011 76,929 25,869 6,9 14 109,71 2    
Additions 1,639 1,58 1 34 3,254   
Foreign exchange rate movements (1) (2) (2) (5)   

Balance, march 31, 2012  78,567 27,448 6,946 1 12,961   
Additions 556 1, 1 1 7 66 1,739
retirements - (38) (43) (81)
Foreign exchange rate movements (38) (34) (29) (101)

BAlAnCe, MArCh 31, 2013 79,085 28,493 6,940 114,518 

Accumulated depreciation    
Balance, march 31, 2011 9,626 17,91 3 5,419 32,958 
depreciation charge for the year 2,475 1,674 210 4,359
Foreign exchange rate movements (1) (2) (1) (4)    

Balance, march 31, 2012 12, 100 19,585 5,628 37,3 1 3  
depreciation charge for the year 2,71 5 2,74 1 182 5,638   
retirements - (38) (43) (81)
Foreign exchange rate movements (26) (31) (14) (71)   

BAlAnCe, MArCh 31, 2013 14,789 22,257 5,753 42,799   
    
net carrying amount, end of year    
As at march 31, 2012 66,467 7,863 1,318 75,648

As AT MArCh 31, 2013 64,296 6,236 1,187 71,719



2013 AnnuAl RepoRt          Argus group Holdings limited                    48 

 10  intAnGiBle ASSetS

intangible assets are comprised of: 

      Website Customer
      costs lists total

gross carrying amount   
Balance, march 31, 2011  - 24,457 24,457 
Additions (1)  - 25 1 25 1
Foreign exchange adjustments  - (57) (57)

Balance, march 31, 2012   - 24,65 1  24,651
Additions   66 - 66
Foreign exchange adjustments  - (217) (217)

BAlAnCe, MArCh 31, 2013   66 24,434 24,500

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 
Balance, march 31, 2011  - 16,489 16,489
Amortisation charge for the year  - 991 991
subsequent adjustment to acquisition price (2)  - 401 401
Foreign exchange adjustments  - (17) (17)

Balance, march 31, 2012  - 17,864 17,864
Amortisation charge for the year  - 1,03 1 1,03 1
impairment loss  - 158 158
Foreign exchange adjustments  - (73) (73)

BAlAnCe, MArCh 31, 2013  -  18,980 18,980

net carrying amount, end of year     
As at march 31, 2012  - 6,787 6,787

As AT MArCh 31, 2013  66 5,454 5,520

(1)  during the year, a subsidiary within the life and annuity operating segment purchased rights to customer lists.
(2) Arising from the acquisition of Fogg insurance Agencies limited.

 1 1  inSuRAnCe ContRACt liABilitieS

 the group’s insurance contract liabilities and reinsurers’ share of claims provisions and unearned premiums are 
comprised of:

MArCh 31, 2013 Note  gross Ceded  net

life and annuity policy reserves 11.1  146,73 1 (7,942) 138,789 
provision for unpaid and unreported claims 11.2  33,722 (6,059) 27,663

     180,453 (14,00 1) 166,452
unearned premiums 11.3  17,691 (10,202) 7,489

ToTAl insurAnCe ConTrACT liABiliTies   198,144 (24,203) 173,94 1

mArCH 31, 2012 Note  gross Ceded  net

life and annuity policy reserves 11.1  142,325 (7, 1 8 1) 135,144 
provision for unpaid and unreported claims 11.2  29,048 (4,392) 24,656

     171,373 (11,573) 159,800
unearned premiums 11.3  19,559 (10,860) 8,699

totAl insurAnCe ContrACt liABilities    190,932 (22,433) 168,499
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11.1  liFe And AnnuitY poliCY ReSeRVeS     

the table below sets out the group’s life and annuity policy reserves shown by type of product and by reportable  
segment:

     
MArCh 31, 2013  insured 
    employee  life and 
    benefits  pensions Total

Annuities    -     120,977  120,977
long-term disability    6,498     - 6,498
life    -     19,256 19,256

life and annuity policy reserves    6,498     140,233 146,731
reinsurers’ share of claims provisions     (4,790)   (3, 1 52) (7,942)

life AnD AnnuiTy poliCy reserves, neT of reinsurAnCe   1,708     137,081 138,789

mArCH 31, 2012   insured 
    employee life and 
    benefits pensions total

Annuities        - 117,679 117,679 
long-term disability    5,719     - 5,71 9
life        - 18,927 18,927

life and annuity policy reserves    5,719     136,606 142,325
reinsurers’ share of claims provisions     (4, 1 1 5)     (3,066) (7, 1 8 1)

liFe And Annuity poliCy reserVes, net oF reinsurAnCe   1,604 133,540 135,144 

 
the majority of the life and annuity policy reserves relate to policies issued to individuals domiciled in Bermuda.
the reinsurer’s share of claims provisions are not considered impaired as at year end.

the composition of the assets supporting the net liabilities is as follows:

MArCh 31, 2013   Mortgage  land and
 Cash  Bonds  and loans  equities (1)  buildings   Total 

Annuities 340 56,633 9,572 35,682 18,750 120,977
long-term disability - - 1,708 - - 1,708 
life 3, 1 1 8 6,632 3,047 3,307 - 16,104

life AnD AnnuiTy poliCy reserves,  
neT of reinsurAnCe 3,458 63,265 14,327 38,989 18,750 138,789

(1) includes investment in associates

mArCH 31, 2012    mortgage   land and
 Cash  Bonds  and loans  equities (1)  buildings   total 

Annuities 440 39,090 14,929 44,895 18,325 117,679
long-term disability - - 1,604 - - 1,604
life 2,944 5,788 2,69 1 4,438 - 15,86 1

liFe And Annuity poliCy reserVes,  
net oF reinsurAnCe 3,384 44,878 19,224 49,333 18,325 135, 144

(1) includes investment in associates

the group examines the assumptions used in determining the life and annuity policy reserves on an ongoing basis 
to ensure they appropriately reflect emerging experience and changes in risk profile. Annually the group conducts 
a comprehensive review of all actuarial methods and assumptions. Changes to actuarial methods and assumptions 
used in determining insurance contract liabilities will result in a change to the projected value of policy cash flows 
and therefore, to the life and annuity policy reserves. the net impact of changes in actuarial methods and assump-
tions was an increase in reserves backing policyholder liabilities of $3.5 million (2012 – $1.8 million). these amounts 
are net of the impact of the reinsurance assets on policyholder liabilities of $7.9 million (2012 – $7.2 million).
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 AssuMpTion, MeThoDology AnD sensiTiviTies   risK MAnAgeMenT

the group maintains underwriting stan-
dards to determine the insurability of  
applicants. Claim trends are monitored on 
an ongoing basis. to offset some of the 
mortality risk, the group cedes a propor-
tion of the risk with reinsurers. 

mortality and morbidity are monitored 
regularly. 

the risks associated with insurance contracts and in 
particular with life and annuity insurance contracts 
are complex and subject to a number of variables that 
complicate quantitative sensitivity analysis. 

to recognise the uncertainty involved in determin-
ing the best estimate assumptions a provision for 
Adverse deviation (pfAd) is established. the pfAd is 
determined by including a margin for conservatism 
for each key assumption to allow for possible dete-
rioration in experience and to help ensure the policy 
reserves will be adequate to pay for future benefits. 
the pfAd assumptions tend to be in the conservative 
end of the ranges suggested by the CiA. 

in conjunction with prudent business practices to 
manage both business and investment risks, the se-
lection and monitoring of appropriate assumptions 
are designed to minimise the group’s exposure to 
measurement uncertainty. 

(a)  Mortality and morbidity risk 

mortality refers to the likelihood of death. the mor-
tality assumption is based on industry standard life 
insurance and standard annuity past and emerging  
experience. the group’s life insurance and annuity 
business is not sufficient to use company specific mor-
tality tables.

A five percent decrease in the best estimate assump-
tion for annuitant mortality would increase the policy  
reserves by $2.07 million, 1.68 percent (2012 – $1.98 
million, 1.65 percent). 

morbidity refers to the incidence of accident and sick-
ness as well as the recovery from the incidence. the 
morbidity assumptions are based on the industry 
standard morbidity tables for the long-term disability 
business. the frequency of claims is low and the risk is 
substantially reinsured. 

(Note 11 continued)

      

the changes in the net life and annuity policy reserves for the year are as follows:

       
For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31     2013 2012

Balance, beginning of year     135,144 129,263 
Changes due to:
 issuance of new policies     5,700 9,7 13
 normal in-force movement     (5,520) (5,596)
 mortality/morbidity assumptions     - (2, 157)
 interest rate assumptions     3,159 2,780  
 expense assumptions     306 1, 1 4 1

BAlAnCe, enD of yeAr                 138,789     135,144  

11.1.1  Key Assumptions – life and annuity policy reserves
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 AssuMpTion, MeThoDology AnD sensiTiviTies   risK MAnAgeMenT

the group’s policy of closely matching  
the cash flows of assets with those of the 
corresponding liabilities is designed to 
mitigate the group’s exposure to future 
changes in interest rates. the interest 
rate risk positions in business segments 
are monitored on an ongoing basis. under 
CAlm, the re-investment rate is developed 
using interest rate scenario testing and  
reflects the interest rate risk positions.

Bonds, equities, real estate and other 
non-fixed income assets are used to sup-
port long-dated obligations in the group’s  
annuity and pensions businesses, and for 
long-dated insurance obligations on con-
tracts where the investment return risk is 
borne by the group.

For certain policies, the premiums and 
benefits reflect the group’s assumed level 
of future credit losses at contract incep-
tion or most recent contract adjustment 
date. the group holds explicit provisions 
in actuarial liabilities for credit risk includ-
ing pfAd.

the group prices its products to cover the 
expected costs of servicing and maintain-
ing them. in addition, the group monitors 
expenses quarterly, including compari-
sons of actual expenses to expense allow-
ances used in pricing and valuation.

(b)  investment returns and interest rate risk 

Assets are allocated to the different business seg-
ments. For each significant operating segment, CAlm 
is used to project the cash flows from the supporting 
assets and the cash flows from the liabilities. the pro-
jected asset cash flows are combined with the project-
ed cash flows from future asset sales and purchases 
to determine the expected investment returns for all 
future years.

the CiA prescribes several representative reinvest-
ment scenarios for use in CAlm to determine the sen-
sitivity of the group’s business to possible reinvest-
ment risk. these represent a wide variety of interest 
rate scenarios. to provide a representative example 
a one percent increase in the best estimate invest-
ment return assumption decreases the total life and 
annuity policy reserves by $11.3 million (2012 – $11.1 
million). A one percent decrease in the best estimate 
assumption increases the total life and annuity policy 
reserves by $13.3 million (2012 – $13.0 million). 

(c)  Credit risk

Credit risk is provided for by reducing investment 
yields assumed in the calculation of the policy re-
serves. past group and industry experience over 
the long term, in addition to ongoing reviews of the  
current portfolio, are used to project credit losses. in 
addition to the allowances for losses on invested as-
sets due to interest rate risk, the policy reserves in-
clude a provision of $1.6 million (2012 – $1.0 million) 
to provide for future asset defaults and loss of asset 
value on current assets and future purchases.

(d)  expenses 

operating expense assumptions reflect the projected 
costs of servicing and maintaining the in-force policies. 

the assumptions are derived from internal reviews of 
operating costs and include an allowance for inflation.

A ten percent increase in the best estimate assumption 
for unit expenses would increase the policy reserves 
by approximately $0.7 million (2012 – $0.7 million).
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11.2  pRoViSion FoR unpAid And unRepoRted ClAiMS               

the table below sets out the provision for unpaid and unreported claims shown by type of product and by reportable 
segment. the majority of these insurance contracts are of a short-term nature.

MArCh 31, 2013  insured  property  
  employee  and
  benefits casualty  Total

Healthcare  14,873 - 14,873 
Fire  - 945 945 
motor  - 14,873 14,873
Accident and liability  - 2,968 2,968
marine  - 63 63

provision for unpaid and unreported claims  14,873 18,849 33,722
reinsurers’ share of claims provisions   (442) (5,617) (6,059)

provision for unpAiD AnD unreporTeD ClAiMs, 
neT of reinsurAnCe  14,43 1 13,232 27,663
   

mArCH 31, 2012  insured  property  
  employee  and
  benefits  casualty total

Healthcare  15,083 - 15,083 
Fire  - 713 713 
motor  - 10,150 10,1 50
Accident and liability  - 2,653 2,653 
marine  - 449 449

provision for unpaid and unreported claims  15,083 13,965 29,048
reinsurers’ share of claims provisions   (20) (4,372) (4,392)

proVision For unpAid And unreported ClAims, 
net oF reinsurAnCe  15,063 9,593 24,656
   
the reconciliation of the provision for unpaid and unreported claims is as follows:

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31  2013 2012 

     provisions for reinsurers’  provisions for reinsurers’ 
     unpaid and share of  unpaid and share of
     unreported claims  unreported claims
     claims provisions net claims provisions net

Balance, beginning of year 29,048 (4,392) 24,656 27,21 8 (5,1 1 2) 22, 106 

Claims and adjustment expenses incurred  
   Current year 94,087 (6,104) 87,983 94,069 (5,737) 88,332
   prior years (1,575) (217) (1,792) (1 , 1 22) (63) (1,185)
   Foreign exchange adjustments (656) 167 (489) (26) 6 (20)

total Claims and adjustment  
 expenses incurred 91,856 (6,154) 85,702 92,92 1 (5,794) 87, 1 27

Claims and adjustment expenses paid  
   Current year (71,036) 3,317 (67,719) (74,095) 4,380 (69,715)
   prior years (16,146) 1, 1 70 (14,976) (16,996) 2,134 (14,862)

total Claims and adjustment 
 expenses paid (87,182) 4,487 (82,695) (91,091) 6,514 (84,577)

BAlAnCe, enD of yeAr 33,722 (6,059) 27,663 29,048 (4,392) 24,656

(Note 11 continued)
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the group has policies and procedures in 
place to reduce the risk exposure, which 
includes strict claims review policies to 
assess all new and ongoing claims, regu-
lar detailed review of claims handling 
procedures and frequent investigation 
of possible fraudulent claims. Further, 
the group enforces a policy of actively 
managing and promptly pursuing claims, 
in order to reduce its exposure to unpre-
dictable future developments that can 
negatively impact the business.

the group has also limited its exposure 
by imposing maximum claim amounts 
on certain contracts as well as the use 
of reinsurance arrangements in order 
to limit exposure to catastrophic events 
(e.g., hurricanes, earthquakes and flood 
damage). the purpose of these under-
writing and reinsurance strategies is to 
limit exposure to catastrophes based on 
the group’s risk appetite as determined 
by management.

estimates of losses are continually re-
viewed and modified to reflect current 
conditions. Although management be-
lieves, based on the recommendations 
of the group’s actuaries, that the provi-
sion for unpaid and unreported claims 
will be adequate to cover the ultimate 
cost of losses to the balance sheet date, 
the provision is necessarily an estimate 
and claims may ultimately be settled 
for greater or lesser amounts. it is rea-
sonably possible that management will 
revise this estimate significantly in the 
near term. Any subsequent differences 
are recorded in the gross change in 
contract liabilities on the Consolidated 
statement of operations in the period in 
which they are determined.

the risks associated with insurance contracts are com-
plex and subject to a number of variables that compli-
cate quantitative sensitivity analysis. uncertainty over 
the timing and amount of future claim payments neces-
sitate the holding of significant reserves for liabilities 
that may only emerge a number of accounting periods 
later.

the key assumptions underlying the application of the 
actuarial methods and the estimate of unpaid claim 
liabilities are the expected development of paid and 
reported losses and the derivation of initial expected 
losses. paid and reported loss development patterns 
are based on the group’s historical claims experience. 
these patterns are updated as of each annual evalua-
tion to incorporate and reflect the most recent claims 
experience. the estimate of initial expected losses is 
most significant for immature policy periods, where it is 
given the greatest weight in determining unpaid claim  
liabilities. initial expected losses are derived based on 
the group’s historical experience adjusted for the im-
pact of inflationary trends on loss costs and the impact 
of historical changes in rates charged to policyhold-
ers. As the experience in each policy year matures, the 
weight assigned to the initial expected losses decreases 
with greater weight assigned to actual loss experience.

the actuarial analysis performed by the group’s ac-
tuaries employs commonly used actuarial techniques 
for estimating the group’s provision for unpaid and 
unreported claims. these include the paid loss devel-
opment method, reported loss development method, 
the Bornhuetter-Ferguson method (applied to both paid 
and reported losses), and the Case reserve develop-
ment method. the particular methods employed in the 
analysis of each reserve segment are judgmentally se-
lected based on the applicability of each method and 
the availability of data to use each particular method.

there have been no material changes in the assump-
tions or methodology underlying the actuarial analysis 
in the year under review.

 AssuMpTion, MeThoDology AnD sensiTiviTies   risK MAnAgeMenT

11.2.1  Key Assumptions – provision for unpaid and unreported claims
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11.2.2  Claims Development Table

the following tables show the estimates of cumulative incurred claims, including both claims notified and incurred 
but not reported (iBnr) reserves for each successive accident year at each reporting date, together with cumulative 
payments to date. 

the group has taken advantage of the transitional rules of iFrs 4 that permit a first-time adopter to not disclose 
information about claims development that occurred earlier than five years before the end of the financial year in 
which it applies iFrs 4. this will be developed in each succeeding additional year, until ten years of information is 
included.

gross claims:

    2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Total
Accident year: and prior       

estimate of ultimate liability (1)       
 as at end of accident year 90,584  20,752   24,612   27,287   27,683 31,082  
 one year later 91,090  23,856  24,838   26,937 27,218 -  
   two years later 91,708  25,726   24,500   26,754  - -    
 three years later 93,703  25,275   24,169   -  - -  
 four years later 94,013  24,845   -   -  - -  
 five years later 93,649  -   -   -  - - 

Current estimate of cumulative liability 93,649  24,845   24,169   26,754  27,218 31,082  227,717 
Cumulative payments to date (91,76 1)  (23,979)  (22,565)   (24,923)  (22,952) (7,815) (193,995)

ToTAl gross liABiliTy 1,888  866  1,604   1,83 1  4,266 23,267  33,722 

net claims:

    2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Total
Accident year: and prior      

estimate of net ultimate liability (1)       
   as at end of accident year 56,440  18,207   22, 192   23,530   24,383  27,003 
 one year later 59,135 21,343 22,244 23,240 23,812  -  
   two years later 59,638 21,423 21,530 23,244  - -    
 three years later 60,852 21,276 21,286  -  -  - 
 four years later 60,926 21,200  -   -  - -  
 five years later 60,247  -   -   -  - - 

Current estimate of net cumulative liability 60,247 21,200 21,286 23,244 23,812 27,003 176,792 
Cumulative payments to date (59,126)  (20,725)  (20,390)   (21,898)  (20,458)  (6,532) (149,129)

ToTAl neT liABiliTy 1 ,1 2 1 475 896 1,346 3,354 20,47 1 27,663

(1) Adjusted for revaluation of foreign currencies at the exchange rate as at year end.

(Note 11 continued)
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11.3  uneARned pReMiuMS 
         

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31  2013   2012 

  reinsurer’s   reinsurer’s   
  share of   share of   
 unearned unearned  unearned unearned
 premiums premiums net premiums premiums net

Balance, beginning of year 19,559 10,860 8,699   19,436   10,463   8,973 
premiums written during the year  162,852 40, 1 79 122,673 167,985   42,507   125,478 
premiums earned during the year (164,720) (40,837) (123,883) (167,862)  (42, 1 1 0)  (125,752)

BAlAnCe, enD of yeAr 17,691 10,202 7,489   19,559   10,860   8,699 

the group is exposed to a pricing risk to the extent that unearned premiums are insufficient to meet the related                   
future policy cost. evaluations are performed regularly to estimate future claim costs, related expenses, and  
expected profit in relation to unearned premiums. there was no premium deficiency at march 31, 2013 or 2012. 

 12 inVeStMent ContRACt liABilitieS     

Carrying values and estimated fair values of the investment contract liabilities are as follows:   
  
For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31  2013 2012 

 Carrying value fair value Carrying value Fair value

At amortised cost:      
deposit administration pension plans  72,522 71,714 60,967  60,029 
self-funded group health policies  8,623 8,623 5,935  5,935

  81,145 80,337 66,902  65,964 
At fvTpl:     
deposit accounted annuity policies  2,787 2,787 2,862   2,862  

ToTAl invesTMenT ConTrACT liABiliTies  83,932 83,124 69,764  68,826 

12.1  inVeStMent ContRACt liABilitieS At AMoRtiSed CoSt

the fair value estimated for investment contract liabilities carried at amortised cost is based on the following methods:
• deposit administration pension plans – approximated by the fair value of the investments supporting the 

liability. 
• self-funded group health policies – the carrying value approximates the fair value due to the short-term 

nature of these investment contract liabilities.

the change in investment contract liabilities measured at amortised cost is a result of the following:

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31  Note  2013 2012

Balance, beginning of year    66,902 187,224 
deposits    68,954 81,792
Withdrawals    (54,072) (69,872)
transfer to segregated funds  26  - (136,889)
other net transfers    - 4, 1 23
Fees deducted    (4,1 65) (4,540)
interest    838 3,93 1
other    2,688 1 , 1 33

BAlAnCe, enD of yeAr    81 ,145 66,902

For the year ended march 31, 2013, the net loss relating to investment contracts measured at amortised cost is $1.6 
million (2012 – net gain of $637,000).
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12.2  inVeStMent ContRACt liABilitieS At FVtpl

Fair value of the deposit accounted annuity policies is determined by using valuation techniques, such as discounted 
cash flow methods. A variety of factors are considered in the valuation techniques, including yield curve, credit 
spread and default assumptions, which have market observable inputs. these investment contract liabilities are 
classified as level 2 instruments in the fair value hierarchy. see note 3.2 for a description of the hierarchy for deter-
mining fair value of financial instruments.

the change in investment contract liabilities at FVtpl is a result of the following:

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31    2013 2012

Balance, beginning of year    2,862 4,835
included in net income (1)    (82) (184)
deposits    2,695 2,786
Withdrawals    (2,688) (4,575)

BAlAnCe, enD of yeAr    2,787 2,862

(1) Amount is recorded under Change in contract liabilities on the Consolidated statement of operations.

For the year ended march 31, 2013, the net gain relating to investment contract liabilities at FVtpl is $82,000 
(2012 – gain of $184,000) and is recorded in gross change in contract liabilities on the Consolidated statement of  
operations. 

 13  RiSk MAnAGeMent

13.1  GoVeRnAnCe FRAMeWoRk

the primary objective of the group’s risk and financial management framework is to protect the group’s sharehold-
ers from events that hinder the sustainable achievement of financial performance objectives, including failing to 
exploit opportunities. management recognises the critical importance of having efficient and effective risk manage-
ment systems in place. 

the group has established a risk management function with clear terms of reference from the Board of directors, its 
committees and the associated executive management committees. this is supplemented by a clear organisational 
structure with documented delegated authorities and responsibilities from the Board of directors to executive man-
agement committees and vice presidents. in addition, a group policy framework which sets out the risk profiles for 
the group, risk management, control and business conduct standards for the group’s operations is in place. each 
policy has a member of senior management charged with overseeing compliance with the policy throughout the 
group. 

the Board of directors approves the group’s risk management policies and meets regularly to approve any com-
mercial, regulatory and organisational requirements of such policies. these policies define the group’s identification 
of risk and its interpretation, limit structure to ensure the appropriate quality and diversification of assets, align 
underwriting and reinsurance strategy to the corporate goals, and specify reporting requirements. 

13.2  opeRAtionAl RiSk And CApitAl MAnAGeMent 

13.2.1  operational risk

the group adopted the Basel ii and the Bermuda monetary Authority’s definition of operational risk. it is the risk of 
loss resulting from inadequate or failed processes or systems, people (human factors) or external events. this defi-
nition includes human error, fraud, malice and problems related to personnel management, accidents, fires, floods,  
failures of information systems, outsourcing, distribution channels, business continuity, compliance and legal risk 
but excludes strategic and reputational risk. 

13.2.2  Capital Management

the group’s capital base is structured to exceed regulatory targets and desired capital ratios, maintain satisfactory 
credit ratings, align the profile of assets and liabilities taking account of risks inherent in the businesses, provide 
flexibility to take advantage of growth opportunities and provide an adequate return to shareholders. Capital is man-
aged on a consolidated basis under principles that consider all the risks associated with the businesses. it is also 
managed at the operating segment level under the principles appropriate to the jurisdiction in which it operates.

management monitors the adequacy of the group and its operating subsidiaries’ capital from the perspective of 

(Note 12 continued)
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Bermuda, gibraltar and malta statutory requirements. the group maintained levels above the minimum local regula-
tory requirements at march 31, 2013 and 2012 as further described below. the group’s capital base consists of share 
capital, Contributed surplus, retained earnings and Accumulated other comprehensive loss as disclosed on the 
Consolidated Balance sheet.

the operations of the group are also subject to regulatory requirements within the jurisdictions in which they  
operate. such regulations not only prescribe approval and monitoring of activities, but also impose certain restric-
tive provisions (e.g., capital adequacy) to minimise the risk of default and insolvency on the part of the insurance 
companies and to meet unforeseen liabilities as these arise.

the Bermuda insurance Act 1978 and related regulations, the gibraltar insurance Companies Act 1987 and the 
malta insurance intermediaries Act 2006 (the Acts) require the group’s insurance subsidiaries to meet minimum 
solvency margins.

the statutory capital and surplus and minimum solvency margin of the group’s insurance subsidiaries are shown 
below:

MArCh 31, 2013    Bermuda europe Total

statutory capital and surplus    99,226 8,425 107,65 1
minimum solvency margin    6,960 4,532 11,492

mArCH 31, 2012    Bermuda europe Total

statutory capital and surplus    105,259 14,524 119,783
minimum solvency margin    24,48 1 5,606 30,087

in addition, minimum liquidity ratios must be maintained whereby relevant assets, as defined by the Acts, must ex-
ceed 75 percent of relevant liabilities. the Bermuda insurance Act 1978 and related regulations limits the maximum 
amount of annual dividends and distributions that may be paid by the group’s insurance subsidiaries. Before reducing 
by 15 percent or more of its statutory capital, as set out in the prior year’s financial statements, these insurance sub-
sidiaries shall request the approval of the Bermuda monetary Authority (BmA). in addition, the Bermuda Companies 
Act 1981 limits the group’s ability to pay dividends and distributions to shareholders if there are reasonable grounds 
for believing that the group would be unable to pay its liabilities as they become due, or if the realisable value of its 
assets would be less than the aggregate of its liabilities, issued share capital and contributed surplus accounts.

each one of the group’s insurance subsidiaries meets all requirements of the Acts and there are no additional 
restrictions on the distribution of retained earnings.

13.3  FinAnCiAl inStRuMent RiSk MAnAGeMent

the group has policies relating to the identification, measurement, monitoring, mitigation, and control of risks  
associated with financial instruments. the key risks related to financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and 
market risks which include currency, interest rate and other price risks including equity risks. the following describe 
how the group manages these risks:
•  investment portfolios are monitored and reviewed regularly for investment quality with the Board of directors 

and the risk Committee of the Board;
•  Credit ratings as determined by recognised external credit rating agencies are regularly monitored to ensure 

these meet the group’s investment guidelines;
•  investment guidelines specify collateral requirements and concentration limits; and
•  reinsurance is placed with counterparties that have a strong credit rating. management regularly monitors and 

performs an assessment of creditworthiness of reinsurers.

13.3.1 Credit risk

the group has exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will suffer a deterioration in perceived 
financial strength or be unable to pay amounts in full when due.

the concentration of credit risk exposures held by insurers may be expected to be greater than those associated 
with other industries, due to the specific nature of reinsurance markets and the extent of investments held in finan-
cial markets. By the nature of the business, reinsurers interact with similar customers in similar markets. However, 
the group uses a panel of reinsurers with global operations and diversified portfolios and limits its exposure to any 
one reinsurer.
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13.3.1 (a) Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk

the following table summarises the group’s maximum exposure to credit risk related to financial instruments and 
insurance contracts. the maximum credit exposure is the carrying value of the financial assets and insurance assets 
net of any allowances for losses.

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31  Note  2013 2012

Cash and short-term investments    30,326  46, 127   
interest and dividends receivable    2,706 404  
Bonds – at FVtpl and Held-to-maturity  3.1  156,485  86,020   
mortgages and loans  3.1  41,236  46,650  
receivables from reverse repurchase transactions  3.1  -  2,700    
policy loans  3.1  66  6 1
derivative financial instruments  3.1  (22)  (137)
other financial assets included in other assets   7  6,043 4,743 
insurance balances receivable  5  18,469 22, 164   
reinsurers’ share of claims provisions  11  14,001 11,573   

ToTAl ConsoliDATeD BAlAnCe sheeT MAxiMuM CreDiT exposure   269,310     220,305  

Credit risk is mitigated by entering into collateral agreements for mortgages and loans. the amount and type of col-
lateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. management monitors the value of 
the collateral, requests additional collateral when needed and performs an impairment evaluation on a regular basis. 
the group manages credit risk by its specific investment diversification requirements such as investing by asset 
class, geography and industry, review of credit quality ratings for portfolio investments and an active credit risk 
governance, including independent monitoring and review and reporting to senior management and the Board.

13.3.1 (b) Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentrations of credit risk arise from exposures to a single debtor, a group of related debtors or groups of debtors 
that have similar credit risk characteristics in that they operate in the same geographic region or in similar indus-
tries. the characteristics are similar in that changes in economic or political environments may impact their ability 
to meet obligations as they come due.

the following tables provide details of the carrying value of bonds and derivative financial instruments by industry 
sector and geographic distribution.

(Note 13 continued)
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For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31    2013 2012

Bonds issued or guaranteed by:     
Federal government       53,647 24,427
Banking and finance        32,051 13,064 
Asset-backed securities       13,33 1  12,082
Communications       5,831  2,582
oil and gas       5,353 3,094
utilities and energy       4,820  4,302
manufacturing       4,695 615
pharmaceutical       3,429  1,294
transportation       2,970 1, 1 89 
mining       2,559  1,628
insurance       1,862  3,52 1   
Agency       1,525  -  
supra national       890 872
other (1)       23,522 17,350  

ToTAl BonDs       156,485     86,020  
     
Derivative financial instruments issued or guaranteed by:    
Federal government   5 (45)   
other   (27)  (92)   

ToTAl DerivATive finAnCiAl insTruMenTs    (22)     (137)   

(1) includes investment in bond funds of $19.4 million (2012 – $2.4 million).

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31    2013 2012

geographical distribution of bonds is as follows:     
united states   108,026  72,4 1 1 
united kingdom   7,168  3,569
Australia   2,724  1,077
Bermuda   2,495  3,633  
France   2,014 - 
netherlands   1,806  -
luxembourg   1,760  872
Canada   1,703  557
sweden   1,682  -
Brazil   1,307  - 
russia   1,163  -
norway   1,137  -
other (1)   23,500 3,901  

ToTAl BonDs    156,485     86,020  

geographical distribution of derivative financial instruments is as follows:    
united states   (22) (137)

ToTAl DerivATive finAnCiAl insTruMenTs    (22)     (137) 

(1) includes investment in bond funds of $19.4 million (2012 – $2.4 million).

mortgages comprise first mortgages on real property situated in Bermuda. the following table provides details of 
the carrying value split into residential and non-residential. residential mortgages include mortgages for both single 
and multiple family dwellings.  

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31    2013 2012

residential 9,489  10,350 
non-residential 31,747 36,300 

ToTAl MorTgAges AnD loAns 41,236     46,650
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13.3.1 (c) Asset Quality

13.3.1 (c)(i) Bonds and derivative financial instruments by credit rating

the following table provides an analysis of the carrying value of bonds and derivative financial instruments by rating.

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31    2013 2012

Bond portfolio quality:     
AAA      49,33 1 11,934 
AA      24,664 38,744  
A+      10,472 -
A     40,542 13,67 1 
BBB     22,382 9,829  
BB      5,804 5,487 
B      556 1,276 
not rated      2,734 4, 1 1 4
Cash     - 965  

ToTAl BonDs     156,485     86,020

Derivative financial instruments quality:     
AAA     5 (45)
not rated      (27) (92)

ToTAl DerivATive finAnCiAl insTruMenTs      (22)     (137) 

13.3.1(c)(ii) Allowance for credit losses on impaired investments

Mortgage and loans 

Changes in the allowance for credit losses are as follows:

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31    2013 2012

Balance, beginning of year      25,458   25,057 
net provision made in year – mortgages     2,823     401 
Write-off of unrecoverable provision     (24,907)     -

BAlAnCe, enD of yeAr         3,374   25,458

A write-off of the unrecoverable provision of $24.9 million was made during the year due to the absence of any 
realistic prospect of recovery.

held-to-maturity bonds

during the year, the group recognised $208,000 of recovery of previously recognised impairment loss (2012 – 
$310,000 of impairment loss) on a bond portfolio classified as held-to-maturity.

13.3.1(c)(iii)  Age analysis of financial assets past due but not impaired and impaired

MArCh 31, 2013   past due but not impaired  

  less than 90 to 180 days  Total 
 90 days 179 days  or more Total impaired

mortgage and loans   13 23 24 60 3,374
other receivables included in other assets  53 42 23 1 18 25

ToTAl 66 65 47 178 3,399

mArCH 31, 2012    past due but not impaired  

  less than  90 to 180 days  total 
  90 days 179 days  or more total impaired

mortgage and loans 141  151  327 619 25,458
other receivables included in other assets  26 27 23 76 304

totAl 1 67 178 350 695 25,762

(Note 13 continued)
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past due financial assets of $178,000 at march 31, 2013, (2012 – $695,000) do not have an allowance for losses 
because at a minimum, either the fair value of the collateral or the expected future cash flows exceed the carrying 
value of these financial assets.

13.3.2  liquidity risk

liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not be able to meet all cash outflow obligations as they come due.  
the group’s asset-liability management process allows it to maintain its good financial position by ensuring that suf-
ficient liquid assets are available to cover its potential funding requirements. the group invests in various types of 
assets with a view to matching them with its liabilities. to strengthen its liquidity further, the group actively manages 
and monitors its capital and asset levels, diversification and credit quality of its investments and cash forecasts and 
actual amounts against established targets. 

the short-term (less than one year) liquidity needs are more than adequately met by maturing bonds, mortgages 
and loans, the sale of equities, as well as by current operating cash flows. Historically, the deposit administration 
pension plan liabilities renew for further periods upon maturity and remain with the group. longer duration cash 
flows are also backed by a broader range of asset classes including equity and other non-fixed income assets. 

reinvestment strategies and policies are in place for maturing assets backing longer-term liabilities and are re-
flected in the life and annuity policy reserves. Based on the group’s historical cash flows and current financial 
performance, management believes that the cash flow from the group’s operating activities will continue to provide 
sufficient liquidity for the group to meet its contractual obligations and to pay other expenses, as they fall due.

liability maturity profile:

the following is an analysis by liability type of the estimated timing of net cash flows based on the group’s liabilities.  
the settlement profile is based on current estimates and historical trends and the actual timing of future cash flows 
may differ materially from the disclosure below.
    

MArCh 31, 2013  Within 1 year 2-5 years 6-10 years over 10 years Total

life and annuity policy reserves
 – net of reinsurance   11,043 42, 154 45,986 106,835 206,018(1)

provision for unpaid and unreported claims
 – net of reinsurance  27,663 - - - 27,663
insurance balances payable  10,772 - - - 10,772
investment contract liabilities   4,105 15, 120 9,516 55,318 84,059(1)  
tax payable   61 - - - 61
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   16,580 - - -  16,580
post-employment benefit liability   120 609 984 3,231 4,944(1)

ToTAl froM generAl funD liABiliTies  70,344 57,883 56,486 165,384 350,097

(1)  the amounts shown above are based on estimated net cash flows which differ from the amounts shown on the Consolidated Balance sheet which are based 
on discounted cash flows.

mArCH 31, 2012  Within 1 year 2-5 years 6-10 years over 10 years total

life and annuity policy reserves
 – net of reinsurance  10,727  41,246 45,574 111,696  209,243 
provision for unpaid and unreported claims
 – net of reinsurance  24,656  - - -  24,656 
insurance balances payable   12,75 1  - - -  12,75 1
investment contract liabilities   3,448  10,199 8,022 48, 1 6 1  69,830(1) 
tax payable  188  - - -  188
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  14,730  - - -  14,730
loan payable  6,000  1,843 - -  7,843 
post-employment benefit liability   123  6 1 1  1,01 5 3,46 1  5,2 10(1)

totAl From generAl Fund liABilities  72,623  53,899     54,6 1 1     163,3 1 8     344,451

(1)  the amounts shown above are based on estimated net cash flows which differ from the amounts shown on the Consolidated Balance sheet which are based  
 on discounted cash flows.
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13.3.3 Market risk

market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in market factors. market factors include three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and equity risk.

13.3.3(a) Currency Risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. the following policies and procedures are in place to mitigate the group’s expo-
sure to currency risk.
•  the group regularly monitors the effect of currency translation fluctuations;
•  investments are normally made in the same currency as the liabilities supported by those investments;
•  the majority of the group’s assets, liabilities and earnings are denominated in Bermuda or united states dollars;  

and
•  the assets and liabilities of the foreign operations are held in the functional currency. the net currency exposure 

arising from the net equity within these operations amounts to £9.7 million and a1.2 million  (2012 – £9.5 million 
and a933,000).

the analysis that follows, showing the impact on equity due to changes in the fair value of currency sensitive mon-
etary assets and liabilities including insurance contract liabilities is performed for reasonably possible movements 
in key variables with all other variables held constant. the correlation of variables will have a significant effect in de-
termining the ultimate impact on market risk, but to demonstrate the impact due to changes in variables, variables 
had to be changed on an individual basis. 

  MArCh 31 mArCH 31
   2013 2012

 Change in impact on impact on
Currency variables equity   equity

uk sterling +/- 10% +/- 969 +/- 950
euro +/- 10% -/+ 1 1 6 +/-  93
  

13.3.3(b) Interest Rate Risk

interest rate risk is the potential for financial loss arising from changes in interest rates. Changes in market interest 
rates can impact the reinvestment of matured investments, as the returns available on the new investment may be 
significantly different from the returns previously achieved. the group manages these risks through:
•  Asset allocation and diversification of the investment portfolio;
•  investing in fixed income assets that closely match the life liability product cash flows for products with fixed          

and highly predictable benefit payments; and
•  Quantifying and reviewing regularly the risk associated with the mismatch in portfolio duration and cash flow.

the impact of interest rate risk for the group’s actuarial liabilities and the assets supporting those liabilities is in-
cluded in note 11. 

the group issues unit-linked investment policies with and without a guarantee return in a number of its operations. 
For unit-linked policies without a guaranteed return under segregated Funds, the policyholder bears the investment 
risk on the assets held in the unit-linked fund. the value of the policy benefits is directly linked to the value of the 
assets in the fund. the group’s exposure to market risk on this business is limited to the extent that income arising 
from asset management charges is based on the value of assets in the fund. 

For unit-linked policies with a guaranteed return under the general Funds and segregated Funds, the group bears 
the investment risk to the extent that the actual rate of return of the unit-linked funds falls below the guaranteed 
rate of return. if the interest yield on the assets supporting the unit-linked funds with guaranteed return was one 
percent higher, profit would have been $6.3 million lower and if one percent lower, profit would have been $6.6 
million higher. For these types of policies, the group ensures that (i) the liabilities and asset cash flows are closely 
matched and (ii) the valuation of the liabilities and assets are monitored regularly.

13.3.3(c) Equity Risk

the majority of the equities are held to back long-term liabilities or those where it is expected that the liabilities will 
renew at maturity at then current market rates. equity risk is the uncertainty associated with the valuation of assets 
arising from changes in equity markets. if actual returns are lower than the expected returns, the group’s life and  

(Note 13 continued)
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annuity policy reserves will increase and will reduce the group’s net earnings. overall, it is expected that the impact 
of an immediate ten percent increase in value across all equity markets would be an increase in net earnings and 
other comprehensive income of $5.1 million (2012 – $5.0 million); conversely the impact of a ten percent decrease 
would have an equal but opposite effect. the direct exposure to equity markets generally falls within the risk-taking 
philosophy of the group’s investment policy and is regularly monitored by management.

13.3.4   limitations of sensitivity analysis

the sensitivity information given in note 13.3 above and in note 11 demonstrates the estimated impact of a change 
in a major input assumption while other assumptions remain unchanged. in reality, there are normally significant 
levels of correlation between the assumptions and other factors. it should also be noted that these sensitivities are 
non-linear and larger or smaller impacts should not be interpolated or extrapolated from these results. Furthermore, 
estimates of sensitivity may become less reliable in unusual market conditions such as instances when risk free 
interest rates fall towards zero.

13.4   inSuRAnCe RiSk MAnAGeMent

the principal risk the group faces under insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit payments or the 
timing thereof, differ from expectations. this is influenced by the frequency of claims, severity of claims, actual ben-
efits paid and subsequent development of long-term claims. therefore, the objective of the group is to ensure that 
sufficient reserves are available to cover these liabilities.

the risk exposure is mitigated by diversification across a large portfolio of insurance contracts. the variability of 
risks is monitored by careful selection and implementation of underwriting strategy guidelines, as well as the use of 
reinsurance arrangements.

the group purchases reinsurance as part of its risk mitigation programme. reinsurance ceded is placed on both a 
proportional and non-proportional basis. the majority of proportional reinsurance is quota-share reinsurance which 
is taken out to reduce the overall exposure to mitigate both risk frequency and risk severity of the group to certain 
classes of business. non-proportional reinsurance is primarily excess-of-loss reinsurance designed to mitigate the 
group’s net exposure to catastrophe losses. retention limits for the excess-of-loss reinsurance vary by product line 
and territory.

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the outstanding claims provisions 
and are in accordance with the reinsurance contracts. Although the group has reinsurance arrangements, it is not 
relieved of its direct obligations to its policyholders and thus a credit exposure exists with respect to ceded insur-
ance to the extent that any reinsurer is unable to meet its obligations assumed under such reinsurance agreements. 
the group’s placement of reinsurance is diversified such that it is neither dependent on a single reinsurer nor are 
the operations of the group substantially dependent upon any single reinsurance contract. 

For details on insurance risk management policies of the group’s insurance operating segments, see note 11.

 14  poSt-eMploYMent BeneFit liABilitY

the movement in the defined benefit liability is as follows:      
  

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31     2013 2012

Balance, beginning of year     4,078   3,625 
movements during the year recognised in operating expenses:
 Current service cost     126  1 1 1 
 interest cost on benefit liability     159 179 
 net actuarial loss     263  261 
 Benefits paid     (102) (98)

BAlAnCe, enD of yeAr     4,524     4,078

Components of the change in benefit liabilities year on year and other employee future benefit expense are as                                 
follows:

(i)  Current service cost represents benefits earned in the current year. these are determined with reference to the 
current workforce eligible for benefits and the amount of benefits to which they will be entitled upon retirement, 
based on the provisions of the group’s benefit plan.
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(ii)  interest cost on the benefit liability represents the increase in the liability that results from the passage of time.

(iii)  each year the actuaries recalculate the benefit liability and compare it to that estimated as at the prior year end. 
Any differences resulting from changes in assumptions, or from plan experience being different from expecta-
tions of management at the previous year end, are considered actuarial gains or losses. 

the significant actuarial assumptions in measuring the group’s accrued benefit liability are estimated as follows:

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31     2013 2012

discount rate     4% 5%
Healthcare cost trend rate     8% 8%

the discount rate assumption has a significant impact on the value of the obligation. A one percent increase in this 
rate would reduce the present value of the defined benefit obligation by $600,000 (2012 – $515,000).

Healthcare cost calculations are based on trend rate assumptions which may differ from actual results. Changes in 
trend rate assumptions by one percent in either direction will change the healthcare cost as follows:

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31  2013 2012 

 increase  Decrease increase decrease

Aggregate of current service cost and interest cost  23 (20) 21 (17)
Accrued benefit liability  693 (575) 599 (499)

 15  inSuRAnCe BAlAnCeS pAYABle

insurance balances payable is comprised of:

MArCh 31, 2013  insured  property    
  employee life and and   
  benefits pensions casualty Total

due to policyholders, agents and brokers  98 1,045 3,459 4,602
due to reinsurers  758 1, 1 72 1,805 3,735
deferred commission income  - - 2,435 2,435

ToTAl insurAnCe BAlAnCes pAyABle  856 2,2 1 7 7,699 10,772

mArCH 31, 2012  insured  property   
  employee life and and   
  benefits pensions casualty  total

due to policyholders, agents and brokers  8 4,526 1 ,126 5,660
due to reinsurers  80 1 1,076 2,742 4,6 19
deferred commission income  - - 2,472 2,472

totAl insurAnCe BAlAnCes pAyABle  809 5,602 6,340 12,751

A reconciliation of the change in deferred commission income is shown below:

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31    2013 2012

Balance, beginning of year    2,472 2,270
deferral during the year    11,520 11,681
income for the year    (11,531) (11,478)
Foreign exchange rate movements    (26) (1)

BAlAnCe, enD of yeAr    2,435 2,472
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 16 loAn pAYABle

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31    2013 2012

Carrying value  -   7,843 
Fair value  - 7,843

in April 2007, the group obtained mortgage finance of $30 million from the Bank of n.t. Butterfield & son lim-
ited in order to finance the development of the new corporate headquarters. draw downs on the facility ceased in 
April 2009, with the total loan principal of $27.8 million, including $2 million of accrued interest which had been 
capitalised. the loan was secured by real estate owned by the group and co-collateralised by a guarantee from the 
Company and was repayable over five years at $500,000 per month plus interest, commencing on April 30, 2009. 
during the year ended march 31, 2013, this loan was repaid in full. interest was charged at the bank’s base rate plus 
one percent per annum. interest expense on the mortgage for the year was $193,000 (2012 – $528,000).

 17 eARninGS peR SHARe

the following table reflects the net earnings and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share com-
putations:

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31    2013 2012

net earnings for the year  12,576       1,696

Weighted average outstanding common shares  21,00 1      21,033

Common shares and common share equivalents  21,00 1      21,033

 18  net CHAnGe in uneARned pReMiuMS

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31   2013 2012

gross change in unearned premiums   1,868  (123)
Change in unearned premiums on premiums ceded   (658)  397 

neT ChAnge in uneArneD preMiuMs   1,210    274

 19  ReinSuRAnCe ReCoVeRieS

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31   2013 2012

Claims and adjustment expenses recovered from reinsurers   4,487  6,5 13
policy benefits recovered from reinsurers   1,403  4,6 13

ToTAl reinsurAnCe reCoveries   5,890     11, 126
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 20 net CHAnGe in ContRACt liABilitieS

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31   2013 2012

gross change in contract liabilities:    
insurance contracts   9,73 1 6,285
investment contracts   1,324 16

    11,055     6,30 1   
Change in reinsurers’ share of claims provisions:    
insurance contract liabilities   (2,595) 2,180

neT ChAnge in ConTrACT liABiliTies   8,460     8,481

 21 CoMMiSSionS, MAnAGeMent FeeS And otHeR

Commissions, management fees and other income recognised during the year are as follows:

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31   2013 2012

policyholder administration   15,030 14,604
investment management services   4,832 5,070
reinsurance commission income   11,446 11,256

other income   207 2 13

ToTAl CoMMissions, MAnAgeMenT fees AnD oTher   31,515    31, 143 

 22 opeRAtinG expenSeS

operating expenses incurred during the year are as follows:

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31   2013 2012

employee benefits expense (see table below)   25,740 22,536
professional fees   4,315 4,644
marketing expenses   1,100 1,093
it related expenses   2,812  2, 1 22
Building related expenses   2,874 2,437
general and corporate expenses   3,364 2,419
other expenses   3,787 3,756

ToTAl operATing expenses    43,992    39,007   

employee benefits expense during the year is comprised of:

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31 Note  2013 2012

salaries and other short-term benefits   24,014  21,069
pension costs (1)    1,236 906
post-employment medical benefits 14  446  453
stock-based compensation 23  44 108

ToTAl eMployee BenefiTs expense    25,740     22,536

(1)  pension costs arise from the group’s defined contribution pension plan covering all full-time employees in Bermuda and gibraltar.
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 23 StoCk–BASed CoMpenSAtion

As at march 31, 2013, the group has two stock-based compensation plans, which are described below. the total 
compensation cost that has been charged against net earnings for these plans for the year ended march 31, 2013, 
was $44,000 (2012 – $108,000).

23.1  StoCk option plAnS

under the group’s 2004 stock option plan, options were granted to key management employees at exercise prices 
not less than the fair market value of the group’s shares on the date the option was granted. options become 
exercisable at the rate of 25 percent per year commencing one year after the date of grant and options not exer-
cised lapse ten years after the date of grant. the consideration paid by employees on exercise of share options 
is credited to share capital and Contributed surplus on the Consolidated Balance sheet. shares under option and 
option prices per share are adjusted for all stock dividends declared subsequent to the date of grant. the fair value 
of these awards is recognised over the applicable vesting period as employee benefits expense and Contributed 
surplus. the fair value of options on the date of grant was determined using the Black-scholes option pricing model.

At the Annual general meeting of shareholders held on July 26, 2007, the directors were granted authority to 
cease issuing further stock options under the group’s 2004 stock option plan and, in its stead, adopted the 2007 
restricted stock plan as described in note 23.2 below. stock options granted prior to this date remain valid and 
the terms and conditions of the 2004 stock option plan continue to apply thereto until expiration. there have been 
no stock options granted since 2007.

the following table summarises the activity under the group’s stock option plan:

 For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31   2013 2012 

    Total number  Weighted  total number  Weighted
    of shares  average  of shares  average

    under option  exercise price  under option  exercise price

outstanding, beginning of year  362,952 $8.90  362,952  $8.90 
Changes during the year:   
expired                             (59,617) $7.20 -  -
Forfeited  (57,408) $12.06 -  -

ouTsTAnDing, enD of yeAr  245,927 $9.28 362,952  $8.90

exerCisABle, enD of yeAr  245,927 $9.28   362,952  $8.90

the weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding is 1.9 years (2012 – 2.45 years). the range of 
fair values of options outstanding is $5.95 to $11.78. the groups’s stock options were fully vested on march 31, 2011. 

the characteristics as at march 31, 2013, of options granted in earlier years are as follows:

 number of  shares

Fiscal year exercise price outstanding        exercisable
     

2004 $5.95 44,40 1 44,40 1 
2005          $8.95 62,435 62,435 
2006          $9.04 65,030 65,030 
2007          $11.78 74,061 74,061

 $9.28 245,927    245,927

23.2  ReStRiCted StoCk plAn 

the 2007 restricted stock plan expired in July 2012, and was replaced at the Annual general meeting of 
shareholders held on september 7, 2012, with the 2012 restricted stock plan.

the purpose of the restricted stock plans is to enhance the group’s ability to attract and retain the services of 
certain key employees and to incentivise such persons to devote their utmost effort and skill to the growth of the 
group by providing them with an interest in its long-term growth and stability. under each of the restricted stock 
plans, the maximum number of shares that may be granted is 250,000 over the five-year life of each plan.
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shares are granted unvested and vest at the rate of 33 1/3 percent at the end of each year for three years after 
the date of grant. the fair value of each share granted is based upon the market price at the date of grant. in June 
2012, 47,300 shares (2012 – nil) were granted with a fair value of $3.75 per share. there were 900 shares forfeited 
during the year. the total compensation cost recognised in the current year was $44,000 (2012 – $108,000) and 
has been included in operating expenses on the Consolidated statement of operations. 

the following table summarises information about the outstanding stock grants:

restricted shares vesting    # of shares

march 2014    15,467
march 2015    15,467
march 2016    15,466

ToTAl       46,400

 24 RelAted pARtY tRAnSACtionS

All related party transactions were conducted in the normal course of business.

24.1  tRAnSACtionS WitH SiGniFiCAntlY inFluenCed inVeSteeS

24.1.1 the group provided insurance-related products and services to various significantly influenced investees. 
the premiums and fees received from these transactions totalled $634,000 in the year and are shown as gross 
premium written and Commission, management fees and other on the Consolidated statement of operations (2012 
– $635,000).

receivables and payables arising from insurance contracts and service contracts with the significantly influenced 
investees are as follows:

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31   2013 2012

insurance balances receivable    31   28
receivable from self-funded group health policies (1)    279   192 
Accounts payable arising from administration 
 of the defined benefit pension plans (2)    (5) (472)

(1)  included in other assets
(2) included in Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

24.1.2  the group rented office premises from a significantly influenced investee paying a total of $329,000 in 
rent and service charges in the year which are shown in operating expenses in the Consolidated statement of 
operations (2012 – $454,000).

24.1.3  the group received facilities management services from a significantly influenced investee for the 
consideration amount of $1.1 million which is shown net of investment income on the Consolidated statement of 
operations (2012 – $1.1 million).

24.2  CoMpenSAtion oF keY MAnAGeMent peRSonnel

key management personnel have been identified as the Board of directors and officers of the Company. these                            
individuals have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the group. 
the summary of compensation of key management personnel for the year is as follows:

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31   2013 2012

salaries and other short-term benefits   2,242 1,758
post-employment benefits (1)   1 17 93
stock-based compensation   6 1 1

ToTAl Key MAnAgeMenT personnel CoMpensATion   2,365     1,862 

(1) includes pension costs and post-employment medical benefits
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24.3  diReCtoRS’ And oFFiCeRS’ SHARe inteReStS And SeRViCe ContRACtS

the total interests of all directors and officers of the Company in the shares of the Company at march 31, 2013, was 
364,019 shares.

With the exception of the employment contract with the Chief executive officer, ms. A. s. Hill, and consultancy agree-
ments with two non-executive directors, there were no other service contracts with the directors during the year.

 25 inCoMe tAxeS

Bermuda
group entities domiciled in Bermuda received an undertaking from the Bermuda government exempting these                           
companies from all Bermuda local income, withholding and capital gains taxes until 2016. At the present time no 
such taxes are levied in Bermuda.

europe
subsidiaries domiciled in gibraltar are subject to normal gibraltar corporation tax at a rate of 10 percent on all tax-
able profits.

the subsidiary domiciled in malta is subject to normal maltese corporation tax at a rate of 35 percent on all taxable 
profits.

25.1  inCoMe tAxeS FoR tHe YeAR

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31    2013 2012

income taxes for the year  8 105
Adjustments in respect of prior year income taxes  - 6

total current income taxes  8 1 1 1
deferred taxes   - 1

ToTAl inCoMe TAxes   8     1 1 2   
    
25.2  CuRRent inCoMe tAxeS ReConCiliAtion   

tax applying the statutory domestic income tax rate and the tax charge for the year are reconciled as follows:

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31    2013 2012

earnings before income taxes 12,934 2,062
less: earnings not subject to taxes 15,862 1, 1 27

(loss)/eArnings suBJeCT To TAxes (2,928)     935

income taxes at the application rate (342) 94
tax effect of:   
 expenses not deductible for tax purposes 20 38
 difference between depreciation and capital allowances 30 22
 income not taxable (140) (48)
 effect of tax losses 37 1 -
 Adjustments to tax charge in respect of previous period - 5
 unrecognised temporary difference 69 -

ToTAl CurrenT inCoMe TAxes 8     1 1 1   
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25.3  deFeRRed tAxeS   

   deferred  
  MArCh 31 income tax mArCH 31
  2013 (expense)/recovery 2012

deferred tax liability arising on property and equipment (1) (10) 1 (1 1)

neT DeferreD TAxes (10)     1 (1 1) 

(1) included in tax payable  
  deferred  
  march 31 income tax march 31
  2012 (expense)/recovery 2011

deferred tax asset arising on property and equipment (1) - (1) 1
deferred tax liability arising on property and equipment (2) (1 1) - (1 1)

net deFerred tAxes (1 1)     (1) (10) 

(1) included in other assets
(2) included in tax payable  
  
25.4  unReCoGniSed deFeRRed tAx ASSetS   

deferred tax assets/(liabilities) have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31    2013 2012

deductible temporary differences (1) (3)
tax losses carried forward 43 -
Capital allowances carried forward 23 -

neT unreCogniseD DeferreD TAx AsseTs/(liABiliTies) 65     (3)
 
 the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and capital allowances do not expire under the current malta tax 

legislation.

(Note 25 continued)
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 26 SeGReGAted FundS And SepARAte ACCountS

the assets for contracts held under the segregated funds are allocated to separate Accounts as authorised by the 
Bermuda life insurance Company limited (separate Accounts) Consolidation and Amendment Act 1998 and the 
Argus international life insurance limited Consolidation and Amendment Act 2008.

 Changes to segregated Funds and a summary of the investments held therein are as follows:

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31 2013 2012

Additions to segregated funds  
premiums, contributions and transfers         238,200 129,740
net investment income     4,520 1, 1 2 1
net increase/(decrease) in fair value of investments    146,986 (5,858)
segregated funds acquired  15 1 12,54 1
transfer from the general Fund  - 136,889

  389,857       274,433 

Deductions from segregated funds
Withdrawals, benefit payments and transfers to the general Fund  234,276 90,603 
operating expenses    13,589  1 1,880

  247,865  102,483

net additions to segregated funds for the year   141 ,992  1 7 1 ,950
segregated funds, beginning of year  1,334,693 1,162,743

segregATeD funDs, enD of yeAr   1,476,685 1,334,693

Consisting of:     
segregated funds with a guaranteed return    
    Bonds    140,575 1 22,494
 receivable from reverse repurchase transactions    - 8,700
 Cash and short-term investments     -  5,695   

ToTAl segregATeD funDs WiTh A guArAnTeeD reTurn    140,575 1 36,889

segregated funds without a guaranteed return    
    Bonds    22,1 1 4 33,964
 stocks and other investments    1,093,386 1,040,641
 policy loans    106,93 1 34,126
 Cash and short-term investments    1 1 1 ,865  88,747
 other assets     1,814  326

ToTAl segregATeD funDs WiThouT A guArAnTeeD reTurn    1,336, 1 10 1,197,804

ToTAl segregATeD funDs   1,476,685 1,334,693

effective march 31, 2012, certain policies previously held under deposit administration pension plans were amended 
such that the related assets and liabilities can be included in segregated funds. the primary reason is to afford the 
policyholders certain protection from creditors of the group. As a result of the transfer, the group has two types 
of segregated fund products: (1) segregated funds with a guaranteed return and (2) segregated funds without a 
guaranteed return.
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26.1  FAiR VAlue HieRARCHY oF SeGReGAted FundS WitH A GuARAnteed RetuRn 

the assets under segregated funds with a guaranteed return are carried at fair value except for receivable from                      
reverse repurchase transactions which are carried at amortised cost.

the group follows the same basis of fair value and valuation techniques as disclosed in note 3.2.

the following table shows an analysis of the segregated funds with a guaranteed return that are carried at fair value 
by hierarchy level:

MArCh 31, 2013  level 1  level 2  level 3  Total

segregated funds with a guaranteed return:     
Bonds  
    Corporate  -    73,655 - 73,655
 mortgage/asset-backed securities  -    19,000 - 19,000
 us government and agency  4,432    36,468 - 40,900
 other government and agency  -    7,020 - 7,020   

segregATeD funDs WiTh A guArAnTeeD reTurn  4,432 136,143 - 140,575      

    

mArCH 31, 2012  level 1 level 2 level 3 total

segregated funds with a guaranteed return:     
Bonds  
    Corporate  -    64,242 - 64,242
 mortgage/asset-backed securities  -    36,864 - 36,864
 us government and agency  18,660    23 1 - 18,89 1
 other government and agency  -    1,579 - 1,579
 other securitised assets  -    - 918 918
Cash and short-term investments  5,695 - - 5,695   

segregAted Funds WitH A guArAnteed return  24,355 102,9 1 6 918 128,1 89

the following table shows a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for assets under the segregated 
funds with a guaranteed return which are categorised at level 3.

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31   2013 2012

Balance, beginning of year   918 -
transfer from the general Fund   - 918
sales   (918) -

BAlAnCe, enD of yeAr   -     918

(Note 26 continued)



Argus group Holdings limited          2013 AnnuAl RepoRt          73

 27 opeRAtinG SeGMentS 

transactions between segments are executed and priced on an arm’s-length basis in a manner similar to transac-
tions with third parties. these transactions consist primarily of rental and internal financing agreements and insur-
ance contracts. inter-segment income has been omitted in the following table as immaterial.

27.1  ReSultS BY SeGMent  

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31   insured   property   
    employee life and and 
    benefits pensions casualty All other (1)   total

segment revenues  2013 105,142 30,1 26 35,673  970 17 1,9 1 1 
   2012 102, 1 27 28,6 14 34,502  (10,456) 154,787

investment income 2013 1,265 12,302 3,525 (1,293) 15,799
   2012 397 8,334 1,200 158 10,089

Amortisation,  2013 1,189 1,764 2,312  1,562 6,827
depreciation and impairment 2012 483 532 2,343  1,992 5,350

income tax expense 2013 - - 8  - 8  
   2012 - - 1 1 2  - 1 1 2

reportable segment
earnings/(loss) attributable 2013 16,089 3,395 2,916 (9,824) 12,576
to shareholders, after tax 2012 9,782 922 6,878 (15,886) 1,696

(1) investment income and reportable segment loss attributable to shareholders, after tax in 2012 are net of impairment losses arising from the investment in 
ngH per note 4.

geogrAphiC inforMATion on segMenT revenues:
      

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31  Bermuda europe total

segment revenues  2013 154,766 17,145 17 1,9 1 1
  2012 138,40 1 16,386 154,787 
   

 management considers its external customers to be the individual policyholders and as such, the group is not             
reliant on any individual customer.

27.2  ASSetS And liABilitieS BY SeGMent:   

   insured   property   
   employee life and and    
   benefits pensions casualty All other total

MArCh 31, 2013: 
total general Fund Assets   26,327 296,250 68,184 41,71 8 432,479(1)

segregated Fund Assets   - 1,476,685 - - 1,476,685
total general Fund liabilities   22,570 250, 137 46,613 16,223 335,543(1)

segregated Fund liabilities   - 1,476,685 - - 1,476,685

mArCH 31, 2012:    
total general Fund Assets    17,501 263,744 63,789 41,389 386,423(1) 
segregated Fund Assets   - 1,334,693 - - 1,334,693 
total general Fund liabilities   19,580 224,5 15 42,586 13,605 300,286(1) 
segregated Fund liabilities    - 1,334,693 - - 1,334,693 

(1) excludes intercompany receivables/payables and investment in subsidiaries.
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 28 CoMponentS oF ACCuMulAted otHeR CoMpReHenSiVe inCoMe

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31 2013 2012

Available-for-sale investments 269  245 
translation of financial statements of foreign operations (2,232) (1,534) 

ToTAl ACCuMulATeD oTher CoMprehensive loss (1,963)     (1,289)

 29 CoMMitMentS And ContinGenCieS

29.1  opeRAtinG leASeS

29.1.1 group as a lessor

the group has entered into non-cancellable commercial property leases on several floors of the group’s office build-
ings. these leases have remaining terms of between one and four years. All leases include a clause to enable upward 
revision of the rental charge on an annual basis according to prevailing market conditions.

Future minimum lease rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as at march 31, 2013, are as follows:

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31 2013 2012

Within one year   1,660 1,408
After one year but not more than five years   2,019 8 1 1 
more than five years   - -

29.1.2 group as a lessee

the group has entered into commercial leases on office spaces. these leases have remaining terms of between one 
and seven years. Certain leases have a renewal option included in the contracts. there are no restrictions placed 
upon the group by entering into the leases.

during the year ended march 31, 2013 and 2012, an amount of $1.1 million and $988,000 respectively, was recognised 
in operating expenses on the Consolidated statement of operations for operating leases.

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at march 31, 2013, are as follows:

For tHe yeArs ended mArCH 31 2013 2012

Within one year   722 783
After one year but not more than five years   1,687 1,91 4 
more than five years   709 1,426

29.2 ContinGenCieS

(i)  the group has a 35 percent interest in a company that built an office building in Hamilton, Bermuda. the 
group has issued a guarantee in respect of its proportionate share of a term bank loan facility totalling $8.4 
million (2012 – $9.5 million) for this office building. 

(ii)   in may 2009, the group, Bermuda life insurance Company limited and Argus international life Bermuda 
limited (AilBl) filed with the supreme Court of Bermuda a claim against tremont group Holdings inc. 
(tremont group) and tremont (Bermuda) limited. the group bought tremont international insurance ltd 
(tiil), from the tremont group in december 2006, and subsequently changed the company’s name to AilBl. 
the group continues to pursue a number of claims, amongst them a claim for damages for breach of warran-
ties in the purchase agreement due to the overstatement by the tremont group of the assets of tiil.

(iii)   the group is contingently liable with respect to certain litigation and claims that arise in the normal course of 
business. 
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 30 CoMpARAtiVe FiGuReS

Certain of the 2012 comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted for 2013.

 31  SuBSequent eVentS

on June 21, 2013, the group declared a dividend of six cents per share to be paid to shareholders of record on July 
15, 2013. this represents an interim dividend based upon the audited financial results of the group for the fiscal year 
ended march 31, 2013.
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